INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction..

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE EXPERIENCES OF MOTHERS AND FATHERS OVER TIME IN PARENTING A CHILD WITH AUTISM

BY

SUSAN ELIZABETH FOLEY



A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE

STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

FAMILY ECOLOGY & PRACTICE

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN ECOLOGY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA SPRING, 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-60426-8



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

LIBRARY RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: SUSAN ELIZABETH FOLEY

TITLE OF THESIS: THE EXPERIENCES OF MOTHERS AND

FATHERS OVER TIME IN PARENTING A

CHILD WITH AUTISM

DEGREE: MASTER OF SCIENCE

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

Student's Signature)

2021 Saddleback Road Edmonton, Alberta T6J 4T4

Date: ... Upril 17, 2001

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of
Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled THE
EXPERIENCES OF MOTHERS AND FATHERS OVER TIME IN
PARENTING A CHILD WITH AUTISM submitted by SUSAN ELIZABETH
FOLEY in partial fulfillment of the requirements of MASTER OF SCIENCE in
FAMILY ECOLOGY & PRACTICE.

(Supervisor)

I Millely

Date: 701

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to understand the experiences of mothers and fathers over time in dealing with autism. There is evidence that there are specific characteristics associated with autism that may contribute to unique challenges for parents. Since few theories exist to describe the experiences of parents in managing a child with autism, an exploratory method of inquiry was chosen. The researcher examined parental accounts of their experiences by using a grounded theory approach. Open-ended interviews were conducted with mothers and fathers at various stages of the process of raising their children. The process of data collection and analysis involved the constant comparative method of analysis in order to determine the appropriate data to collect next in order to assist in the development of the emerging theory. The data illustrated a process in raising a child with autism which emerged into a sequence of six stages: Expecting Normal, Worrying about Differences, Needing to Know, Having it Real, Taking Action, and Going Beyond Autism. Over time, parents were involved in a process of reframing both the vision of their children as well as the vision of family life, which involved changing previous expectations to fit the reality of their child's limitations and behaviours. The process of reframing the vision of family involved making adjustments so that the family's life was more congruent with the vision that they had regarding what families should look like.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the support and guidance provided to me by Dr.

Norah Keating, my thesis advisor. Her flexibility and dedication to this research has given me the motivation that I needed to continue even when I thought I could not. The valuable insights that she provided into the process of parenting a child with autism was extremely helpful. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Pamela Brink and Dr. Linda McDonald for stimulating my thinking about the method of grounded theory and the topic of parenting a child with autism.

I would like to acknowledge the eight participants who so willingly welcomed me into their homes to openly discuss their experiences in parenting children with autism. I recognize the difficulty that many of them faced in reliving their early experiences and thank them for being so generous in their participation. Without them, this study could not have been completed.

Finally, to my family and friends I express a special thanks for both the emotional and financial support that you provided throughout this project. All have been a constant source of motivation and support. I could never have done this without *you*.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of Purpose	3
II. SURVEY OF THE LITERATURE	4
Parenting a Child with Autism	5
Parental Experiences of Stress	9
Gender Differences in Parenting a Child with Autism	13
The Process of Parenting a Child with Autism	19
III. METHODOLOGY	25
Grounded Theory	25
Sampling and Data Collection	30
Participants	31
Data Analysis	39
IV. FINDINGS	
Stage I: Expecting Normal	
Stage II: Worrying about Differences	
Stage III: Needing to Know	53
Stage IV: Having it Real	59
Stage V: Taking Action	70

	Stage VI: Going Bey	ond Autism	78		
V. DISCUSSION					
	Reframing the Vision of the Child				
	Reframing the Vision of the Family				
	Limitations of the Study				
	Conclusion		94		
	REFERENCES		97		
	APPENDIX A	CALL FOR PARTICIPANTS	109		
	APPENDIX B	CONSENT FORM	110		
	APPENDIX C	DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS	112		
	APPENDIX D	INTERVIEW GUIDE	115		

I. INTRODUCTION

A great deal of attention has been devoted to the experience of parenthood (Gable, Belsky, & Crnic, 1992; Goldberg & Easterbrooks, 1984; Jenkins & Smith, 1991; Lamb, Pleck, & Levine, 1986). Mothers and fathers often look forward to the experience with great anticipation and numerous expectations. Among the many expectations are concerns related to the health, success, and happiness of the new child. Most families, however, are not expecting to be faced with the task of raising a child with special needs. Therefore, to learn either at birth or later that a child has special needs is often a tremendous shock to parents. The literature with respect to the ways that parents manage this oftentimes overwhelming change remains limited.

Focus on the process that parents of children with disabilities experience has been relatively limited. A better understanding of some of the issues that such families experience will increase our capacity to assist mothers and fathers over time. Previous research in relation to parents of children with disabilities has tended to focus on processes such as grief and sorrow (Adams, Wilgosh, & Sobsey, 1990). As well, much of our understanding of the experiences of this population of parents is based on literature that focuses on the numerous stresses that parents confront when there is a child with a disability in the family (Donovan, 1988). The effects of such stresses and the ways that they are managed over time is an area that has received considerably less attention. A minority of researchers in the area of disabilities are beginning to recognize the need for research which addresses the ways that parents manage stress and cope

with the various challenges associated with disabilities (Adams et al., 1990; Scorgie, Wilgosh, & McDonald, 1996).

Understanding parental experiences particular to disabilities and their stresses and challenges is necessary to be able to effectively assist such families in dealing with their situation. The literature that does exist tends to group multiple disabilities in examining this issue. For example, Frey, Greenberg, and Fewell (1989) examined such disabilities as Down's syndrome, cerebral palsy, multiple sensory handicaps, William's syndrome, and trisomy-19. The problem with grouping disabilities in research studies is that in doing so, we are failing to recognize the uniqueness that each individual disability has in terms of onset, course, and outcome. It is for this reason that there is a serious need for in-depth, theory-building research focusing on specific disabilities and how parents experience and deal with them over time.

The specific disability that was the focus of this research is autism. Families of children with autism tend to be faced with issues and concerns that families of children with other disabilities do not. Unlike other disabilities, which are typically present at birth and are generally physically visible, autism is not always immediately noticeable to parents or health care professionals. For this reason, parents of children with autism often struggle with issues related to the detection and diagnosis of the disability (Zoltak, 1986). Oftentimes, the symptoms of autism are accidentally overlooked or misunderstood and as a result, there may either be a delay in diagnosis or misdiagnosis (Siegel, Pliner, Eschler, & Elliot, 1988).

In the years following diagnosis, parents of children with autism may experience frustration, worry, or sadness. The lack of independence of children with autism, even in their adult years, can be disconcerting for many parents. A large percentage of children with autism will require assistance for the remainder of their lives. This may mean a lifetime of caregiving for the child and the added stress of wondering what will happen to the child once parents die (Adams et al., 1990; Mengel, Marcus, & Dunkle, 1996). Ambiguity exists with respect to when the role of parenthood ends. Research is needed to determine how parents experience this ongoing role in order to better assist them in dealing with issues that may arise in later life as both the child and the parents get older.

Statement of Purpose

The purpose of this research was to understand what parents experience over time in raising a child with autism. This research examined parental accounts of their experiences and attempted to understand the process that such parents experience. By speaking to parents about what raising a child with autism has been like, this research attempted to obtain a more complete picture of this particular disability and how it is experienced.

II. SURVEY OF THE LITERATURE

According to the DSM-IV, autism has an incidence of approximately 2-5 cases per 10,000 individuals (American Psychiatric Association, 1994). Autism is a disorder of social interaction and communication. The DSM-IV recognizes among the symptoms of autism: (1) impairment in the use of nonverbal behaviours that regulate social interaction; (2) failure to develop relationships with peers at the appropriate developmental level; (3) a lack of spontaneous seeking to share enjoyment and interests with other people; (4) a lack of social or emotional reciprocity; (5) delay or lack of the development of language; (6) inability to initiate or sustain a conversation with others; (7) repetitive use of language; (8) lack of play abilities appropriate to developmental level; and (9) repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests, and activities (American Psychiatric Association, 1994). Autism is an unpredictable and pervasive developmental disorder that presents significant challenges to parents in terms of management of the disability.

In order to better understand some of the issues particular to parents of children with autism, three main bodies of literature were reviewed. The first focused on the impact on parents in general in terms of the numerous behavioural challenges associated with autism. Also, gender differences were reviewed with respect to how mothers and fathers may differ in their experience with this disability. Lastly, particular issues that tend to be of concern in dealing with autism were examined. The above bodies of literature supported the notion that autism is indeed a unique disability when compared with other chronic, childhood

disabilities. As such, it is necessary to pursue research which addresses specifically the management of autism.

Parenting a Child with Autism

How parents manage when caring for a child with a disability has come under scrutiny by researchers in recent years. Certain disabilities represent a unique developmental course and as such, may present potential challenges and stressors uncommon to other disabilities. One such disability is autism.

There are numerous articles that focus on the enormous amount of stress that these parents experience (Bristol & Schopler, 1983; DeMyer & Goldberg, 1983; Gray, 1994; Milgram & Atzil, 1988; Moes, Koegel, Schreibman, & Loos, 1992; Wolf, Noh, Fisman, & Speechley, 1989). In order to begin to understand how parenting stress related to autism may develop, it is essential to review some of the behavioural characteristics that may contribute to such stress. Such characteristics include uneven intellectual development, disruptive behaviour, and reaction to changes in routine. The following sections will include descriptions of these behavioural characteristics.

1) Uneven Intellectual Development

Parents of children with autism often face confusion with respect to the capabilities of their children. Since there are no standardized diagnostic instruments specifically for autism, tests of cognitive functioning are often used. As a result, children may receive a dual diagnosis of both autism and mental retardation (Moes, 1995). According to Ritvo and Freeman (1978) the confusion often arises for parents when their child's development seems somewhat uneven. For example, children with autism typically perform poorly on some tests

(typically verbal tests) and relatively well on others (typically nonverbal tests)
(Ritvo & Freeman, 1978). The mental retardation label does not seem applicable across all situations and parents often find this confusing since they may not know what to expect in terms of their child's capabilities.

The discrepancy in capabilities has been defined as splinter effects. Such effects refer to specialized skills that are often present in children with autism. Children with autism often have knowledge which is age-appropriate, but only in certain areas. For example, a child with autism might know definitions of complex words, but might not be able to effectively communicate his/her daily needs (Norton & Drew, 1994). Understanding splinter effects can be both confusing and stressful for parents. Furthermore, "this wide divergence in ability levels often promotes much greater expectations than the child is able to deliver and leads to high levels of frustration for both parents and child" (Norton & Drew, 1994, p.71).

2) Disruptive Behaviour

Disruptive behaviour of children with autism is another aspect of behaviour with the potential to produce parenting stress. It is not uncommon for children with autism to exhibit disruptive behaviour that is often very difficult to manage such as: self-stimulation, self-injury, aggression, tantrums, property destruction, and erratic sleep behaviour (Moes, 1995; Norton & Drew, 1994).

Self-stimulation is a common behaviour for children with autism.

Typically, self-stimulation is defined as repetitive or stereotypic behaviour that serves no apparent purpose (Moes, 1995). Examples of self-stimulatory behaviour might include rocking, hand flapping, or gazing at lights. It is a means

for children with autism to receive and/or reduce sensory input from the environment. However, observing such behaviours can often be disturbing for parents, especially since the majority of children engaging in self-stimulatory behaviours may do so for most of their waking hours (Schreibman, Koegel, & Koegel, 1989).

Maybe the most dramatic and problematic disruptive behaviour that children with autism may tend to exhibit is self-injury. Moes(1995) describes self-injurious behaviours as any behaviours inflicting physical damaging to an individual's body. Examples would include head-banging and self-hitting. As with most behaviours, the severity of this behaviour can vary and at its extreme, can result in serious injuries to the child (Schreibman, 1988). Obviously, for parents to watch their children engage in behaviours that are harmful may be extremely stressful as few parents like to see their children get hurt.

"Other disruptive behaviours such as aggression, tantrums, and property destruction tend to occur in varying degrees in children with autism" (Moes, 1995, p.84). However, as with the former disruptive behaviours, these too have the potential to be extremely troubling to both mothers and fathers.

Not only may the occurrence of disruptive behaviours produce stress because many of them are difficult for parents to watch, they can produce stress in other ways. For example, as a result of engaging in disruptive behaviours children tend to be stigmatized by adults as well as other children. Parents may struggle with this stigmatization and experience stress as a result of worrying about their child and the possibility that he/she may never fit into society like other children. As well, disruptive behaviours may produce stress since parents

often do not know how to handle them appropriately and may feel inadequate as a result. Lastly, some disruptive behaviours can produce stress simply due to their unpredictability. Parents may feel uncomfortable as a result of being unsure as to when and where such behaviours will occur.

3) Changes in Routine

Commonly children with autism tend to prefer constancy in their lives, especially with respect to maintaining the same routines from day to day (Moes, 1995). Deviations from regular routines can cause great difficulty for parents or other caregivers. Parents or caregivers may find themselves faced with tantrums or aggression as a result of a change in routine (Moes, 1995).

"Accompanying the desire for sameness comes a tendency to be continually frightened of harmless things, while seeming oblivious to actual threats and dangers" (Moes, 199.5, p. 84). The above effects that can result from change in routine can be challenging and difficult for parents to deal with. Not only do parents need to learn to follow a routine as closely as possible, they also have to learn the necessary skills to prepare their child for changes in that routine when applicable. Furthermore, like disruptive behaviours, unpredictable behaviours as a result of the need for sameness can lead to negative reactions from the general public who may see the child's behaviour as inappropriate, but may not realize that such behaviours are a part of the disability.

Clearly, there are various behavioural characteristics associated with autism that have the potential to produce stress in parents. With the realization that parents struggle to keep maladaptive behaviours under control, there has been

assist parents in feeling in control and alleviating sources of stress related to behavioural concerns (Anderson, Avery, DiPietro, Edwards, & Christian, 1987; Campbell, Schopler, Cueva, & Hallin, 1996). Moes (1995) suggests that for parents needing meaningful changes in the lives of both themselves and their children with disabilities, interventions that teach parenting skills that can be applied to daily routines can produce widespread progress and reduce parenting stress. Other researchers have focused on understanding the interaction among a family's resources, coping skills, and their appraisal of the stressor to determine how families respond to stress (Bristol, 1987; Willoughby & Glidden, 1995). It has been suggested that coping skills are a useful supplement to parent education initiatives (Moes, 1995).

Parental Experiences of Stress

While we have reviewed various characteristics of autism that may lead to stress in parents, there is some research which addresses how parents experience such stress (Bristol & Schopler, 1983; DeMyer & Goldberg, 1983; Gray, 1994; Milgram & Atzil, 1988; Moes et al., 1992; Wolf et al., 1989). However, with respect to the above studies, Byrne and Cunningham (1985) point to the lack of a clear definition of stress as a methodological issue which needs to be addressed in future research. The concept of stress is often used without explicit definition and this results in a lack of consistency across studies.

The most common way that stress experiences are examined is through the use of self-report instruments which measure the amount of stress in families. Wolf et al. (1989) used in their sample children with autism, Down's syndrome, and developmentally-average children. Parents completed the Parenting Stress Index (Loyd & Abidin, 1985) and the Beck Depression Inventory (Beck, Ward, Mendelson, Mock, & Erbaugh, 1961). Parents of children with autism had significantly higher scores than those of either of the other two control groups. Furthermore, mothers and fathers within all samples reported similar amounts of stress.

Morgan (1988) reports that in studies comparing parents of children with autism with parents of non-handicapped children or children with other handicaps, consistent results have not always been obtained. Some studies provide evidence that stress for parents is related to specific anxiety producing events (Koegel, Schreibman, O'Neill, & Burke, 1983), while others suggest that there is a specific stress reaction associated with autism (Bristol, 1984). Furthermore, some research finds no differences in stress levels between parents of children with autism and families without a disabled member (Koegel et al., 1983) while other studies finds differences in this respect (Holroyd & McArthur, 1976; Wolf et al., 1989).

Koegel et al. (1983) studied various aspects of parental functioning in mothers and fathers of children with autism. Earlier research suggests that multiple measures of family adjustment assist in the understanding of the general stress levels of parents (Hafner, Butcher, Hall, & Quast, 1969). Koegel et al. (1983) found that "on the MMPI, these parents scored within the normal range and did not differ from a comparison group of families with only normal children; on the Dyadic Adjustment Scale (Spanier, 1976), which assesses marital adjustment, they produced scores similar to a normative group of happily married

couples; on the Family Environment Scale (Moos, Insel, & Humphrey, 1974), which assesses interpersonal relationships among family members, their scores on the 10 subscales did not differ significantly from the normative group scores" (Morgan, 1988, p.267). As a result, Koegel et al. (1983) concluded that their results failed to provide support for a general stress reaction by parents to an autistic child. Rather, parental stress may be highly situational and specific to anxiety-producing situations.

Holroyd and McArthur (1976) examined mothers' reports of stress when raising children with autism, Down's syndrome, and children being seen in an outpatient psychiatric clinic. While mothers of children with autism reported more problems than other mothers, there were still various problems that these mothers shared with mothers of children with Down's syndrome. Common problems included poor health, depressed mood, inordinate time dernands, excessive dependence of their children on them, pessimism in relation to their child's future, and limits with respect to family opportunity. However, in relation to behavioural issues, mothers of children with autism reported more disappointment and embarrassment with respect to taking the child to public places. Also, mothers of children with autism reported their children as being more physically dependent on them for care. Lastly, children with autism were viewed as having more difficult personality characteristics and were seen as more disruptive of family activities.

Bristol (1984) reported on the ways that stress changes in relation to autism as the child and parent age. Initial stresses revolved around the negative impact of the child on the family and evolved to include concerns in relation to

the ability of the child to survive in the community. As children grew older, concerns changed and included developmental aspects such as masturbation, self-care in menstruation, and fear of pregnancy. In addition, parents of children with autism reported that as their children grew older tolerance of the community with respect to deviant behaviour tended to diminish. Unlike Koegel et al. (1983), this study seemed to point to a characteristic profile of stress associated with parenting a child with autism. This finding could be partially attributed to the fact that Koegel et al.'s (1983) research represents a more comprehensive, better controlled study than Bristol (1984).

Some researchers have acknowledged that parental stress that persists over time has the potential to lead to burnout (Bristol & Schopler, 1983; Marcus, 1984). Marcus (1984), in a study of chronically handicapped children, identified stressors contributing to burnout as problems obtaining diagnosis, difficulty accessing services, isolation resulting from having a child whose behaviours set the family apart, lack of support, and parental neglect of their own personal and social needs.

Although a great deal of attention has been devoted to understanding stress, the lack of consistent findings related to stress and differences between stress levels of various populations does not allow us to draw any firm conclusions regarding which families are subject to high levels of stress and which are not (Byrne & Cunningham, 1985). However, the evidence seems to point to the fact that families of children with autism experience increased levels of stress as a result of various characteristics of the disability. Further research is needed to determine exactly how autism impacts parents. As well, since the

experience of stress may be only one aspect of the experiences of parents when parenting a child with autism, additional research is needed to determine the entire nature of parents' experiences.

Gender Differences in Parenting a Child with Autism

It seems naive to assume that all parents experience autism in the same way or that parents of different genders experience autism identically. Following is a review that focuses on research to date that has examined the ways that mothers and fathers differ in terms of their experience of autism and their roles in caregiving. Research focusing on gender differences is relatively new and much more needs to be completed in this area.

Traditionally, in studies examining parental experiences, samples have comprised mainly mothers. As a result, the literature remains relatively one-sided. It is important to include fathers in samples whenever possible since accounts of their experiences are equally valuable and will assist in our understanding of what both members of a couple experience. A more complete understanding of some of the interactions that exist between couples will provide us with valuable information regarding family dynamics. Furthermore, until recently gender differences in parenting experiences were rarely explored with varying disabilities. As a result, our understanding of gender issues is relatively limited with respect to autism.

1) Mothers of Children with Autism

Research has found that mothers of children with autism are primarily responsible for caregiving. Holmes and Carr (1991) used in their sample parents of adults with both Down's syndrome and autism. They found that for all

physical care tasks except eating, mothers assisted the disabled family member almost entirely unaided in over half of the cases. In the situations in which mothers were receiving assistance it was fathers and siblings who were helping. Assistance from other family members tended to be in the form of supervision, rather than physical care or domestic tasks. Other studies focusing on autism have found similar results (DeMyer, 1979; Morgan, 1988; Willoughby & Glidden, 1995). Traditionally, mothers have been the family member responsible for staying at home to attend to the child's needs, while fathers are generally employed full-time. A similar pattern has been found in families of children with autism.

While the above caregiving pattern may be similar for mothers of children with other disabilities as well as mothers of children of developmentally normal children, researchers have also found aspects of caregiving that are particular to mothers of autism. For example, DeMyer and Goldberg (1983) showed that mothers of young children with autism often find themselves overwhelmed because of unrelenting caregiving demands and concern for the physical welfare of their children who typically show little understanding of a sense of danger. Furthermore, DeMyer and Goldberg (1983) found that as children with autism grew older, the concerns of mothers shifted somewhat. Mothers' concerns tended to shift toward aspects such as self-help instruction and the management of behaviour in public places. In addition, some mothers also reported concern over their ability to manage behaviours such as physical aggression, especially in the adolescent years when their child increases in physical size and strength (DeMyer & Goldberg, 1983).

Behavioural and cognitive issues associated with autism seem to be areas that relate closely to the amount of stress that mothers may experience as a result of being full-time caregivers. In fact, stress is an aspect of caregiving for mothers that has been well documented in the literature (Adams et al., 1990; Moes et al., 1992). As a result of the level of dependency of their children, difficulty managing problem behaviours, and care across the life-span, mothers experience a great deal of stress (Moes, 1995). Milgram and Atzil (1988) found that for mothers who are primary caregivers, children's shortcomings are viewed as failures on their part.

Willoughby and Glidden (1995) found that stress can be partially alleviated by family members, particularly husbands, who participate in child care responsibilities and other household tasks. The tremendous burden of responsibility that many mothers experience can be lifted somewhat if other family members are willing to assist with caregiving responsibilities. Studies have found that parental roles in families of children with disabilities are generally more traditional than in families of children without disabilities (Cook, 1988). Even when women are employed outside the home, they do not receive greater assistance with household tasks than mothers who are not employed (Marcenko & Meyers, 1991; Willoughby & Glidden, 1995).

Statistics regarding the labour force participation of mothers of children with autism are conflicting. While some studies report mothers to be the family member who stays home full-time, other studies report that mothers are working in the paid labour force either part-time or full-time. Further research is needed to determine which is the case. As well, further research would assist in

understanding other aspects of paternal support aside from caregiving responsibilities, which may be important to mothers.

2) Fathers of Children with Autism

While there has been a shift toward increased involvement of fathers in families in general, in the majority of cases mothers are still the primary caregivers. This same pattern of care has been found in families of children with autism. Milgram and Atzil (1988) found that fathers of children with autism assume more financial responsibilities outside the home than mothers, and as a result, are less available to assist with caregiving responsibilities. In this study, all fathers were employed outside the home.

Few studies actually ask fathers themselves to report how much they participate. Once again, results rely heavily on mothers' reports, with the exception of a few studies (Bristol, Gallagher, & Schopler, 1988; Gray, 1994; Midence & O'Neill, 1999; Milgram & Atzil, 1988; Willoughby & Glidden, 1995). Bristol et al. (1988), in a study of mothers and fathers of both developmentally disabled boys and non-disabled boys, found both groups of fathers to be involved in child care. This study found that fathers of non-disabled children shared almost equally with mothers in child care. Fathers of disabled children, however, did not support their wives nearly as much. Both mothers and fathers of developmentally disabled children reported that fathers assumed less responsibility in child care than did mothers and fathers of non-disabled children. Furthermore, fathers in families of disabled children also assumed less responsibility for general household tasks than did fathers in families of non-disabled children (Bristol et al., 1988).

Milgram and Atzil (1988), in a study of mothers and fathers of children with autism found similar results with respect to child care responsibilities. They examined parenting share, fairness, and satisfaction between mothers and fathers and found agreement between them to be quite high. Fathers reported that they do about one-third of the parental care of the child and mothers confirmed fathers' estimates by reporting independently that they themselves do about two-thirds of the child care. And "[s]ince mothers do far more than fathers in parenting, it is not surprising that mothers believe that they should do less, and fathers that they should do more" (Milgram & Atzil, 1988, p.421).

Willoughby and Glidden (1995), in a study of 48 married couples who were raising a child with a developmental disability, examined the division of child care. A list of eight tasks was used to measure the division of child care for each couple: feeding, changing diapers, dressing, bathing, getting ready for bed, getting up at night, playing, and helping with activities. Maternal work force participation was also measured and 10% of the mothers in the sample were employed full-time, 39% were employed part-time, and 51% were not employed outside the home. Findings indicated that fathers participated less in child care activity than mothers. "The only tasks in which the majority of fathers participated in close to 50% of the child care were those of play and helping with activities" (Willoughby & Glidden, 1995, p.402). These findings are supported by those of Holmes and Carr (1991) who found that when fathers participate in caregiving, it generally tends to be in the form of supervision of the child with autism, as opposed to participating in household tasks or physical care.

Research is pointing to the benefits for both parents when fathers spend more time in a parenting role (Baruch & Barnett, 1986; Bristol et al., 1988; Lamb et al., 1986; Willoughby & Glidden, 1995). Bristol et al. (1988) examined the relation between spousal support and aspects of adaptation such as depression, marital satisfaction, and observed parenting interactions. What they found is that it was not the actual support provided by the fathers that indicated how happy mothers were, but the discrepancy between actual support and the support that mothers thought they should be receiving. This study included parents of boys with autism and communication disorders who were between the ages of 2 and 6 years of age.

Willoughby and Glidden (1995) conducted a similar study using a broader sample of parents who were rearing at least one child who had or was at risk for developing a developmental disability. They found that greater participation in child care was associated with greater marital satisfaction for both parents of children with developmental disabilities. As Benson and Gross (1989) suggested, parents who work together to meet the needs of their children with developmental disabilities may in fact enhance their marriage in the process.

Most recently, qualitative research has begun to examine the experiences and coping strategies of both mothers and fathers parenting children with autism (Gray, 1994; Midence & O'Neill, 1999). Gray (1994) reported the most serious stresses faced by parents to be problems with the lack of normal language, disruptive and violent behaviour, inappropriate eating and toileting, and inappropriate sexual expression. As well, the grounded theory pilot study of Midence and O'Neill (1999) found six core categories describing the experiences

of parents. These included parents' difficulties in understanding their child's behaviours as well as confusion resulting from parents' inability to make sense of these behaviours, and problems obtaining a diagnosis. In addition, the findings indicate that parents feel a sense of relief upon learning the diagnosis.

Although some researchers have begun to recognize the importance of understanding the experiences of parents of children with autism, the results with respect to how fathers' participation in the family is experienced remain limited. The minority of studies that have elicited data from fathers have reported results that focus more on what fathers physically do in the family when there is a child with autism. There is little research which examines how fathers experience raising a child with autism in terms of how they feel and how they are impacted.

One way to understand the experiences of mothers and fathers in raising a child with autism is to speak with both parents about their experiences, especially in light of the fact that more fathers are participating in tasks that in the past they have not. Current literature points to the need for the recognition that individual differences may occur in the reactions of parents to children with autism. What little we do know about the differences in the experiences of mothers and fathers of children with autism seems to point to the possibility that the genders experience things quite differently. Understanding such differences is key to developing intervention plans that can assist both mothers and fathers in dealing with the disability of their child.

The Process of Parenting a Child with Autism

Aside from behavioural issues that parents experience in dealing with a child with autism, there are certain other concerns that face parents over the life

span. Autism represents for parents a unique developmental course. Over time, parents faced with raising a child with autism experience significant challenges which are different from those experienced by parents of children with other disabilities.

1) Diagnosis

The particular hardships that mothers and fathers of children with autism experience with respect to diagnosis have begun to be documented (Siegel et al., 1988; Zoltak, 1986). Although it is generally recognized that receiving a diagnosis for a child with autism is an ambiguous and often frustrating experience, little is known specifically about how parents manage this experience.

"Early recognition of ...[autism] requires prompt referral, diagnosis, and management" (Zoltak, 1986, p.90). With respect to diagnosis, however, promptness is not always clear cut since the diagnosis of autism is not well-defined. To begin, "symptoms of autism can be mistaken for other disorders, such as deafness, hyperactivity, emotional disturbance, language disorder, or mental retardation" (Siegel et al., 1988, p.199). Siegel et al. (1988) found an interval time of 13 months between the time parents first became concerned about their children's development and the time that an initial diagnosis was received. Furthermore, "a definitive diagnosis came about 2 years after the initial diagnosis" (Siegel et al., 1988, p.202).

Another reason that autism is difficult to diagnose is because the symptomology of this disability varies. "...[S]ome children are extremely withdrawn and have no language skills while others can function independently"

(Zoltak, 1986, p.90). Conversely, some children with autism experience this disorder early in infancy while others develop normally for the first year or two of life and then experience slower development (Zoltak, 1986). Both of the above factors can make it difficult for professionals to give a definitive diagnosis of autism. From a professional perspective, the fact that autism is not extremely common can make diagnosis difficult. In addition, the possibility exists that parents do not act upon concerns regarding their child's developmental delays, possibly because they are experiencing denial or do not recognize the seriousness of the situation.

2) Dependence of Children over Time

A second developmental concern that can be challenging for parents of children with autism is the dependence of their children over time. Parents hope that their children have the potential to achieve independence in adulthood (Mengel, Marcus, & Dunkle, 1996). However, for children with developmental disabilities such as autism, the reality is that they may be dependent on others throughout their lifetime. For slightly less than 10% of children with autism, there is the promise of doing very well in adult life, holding jobs, and maybe even having families (Gillberg, 1991). However, there is other research indicating that "...the vast majority of these children remain socially severely restricted as adults" (Gillberg, 1991, p.376). Approximately 60% of children with typical autism will grow up to be completely dependent on adults to care for them in all aspects of life (Gillberg, 1991).

Studies regarding the developmental functioning of children with autism over time seem to support the fact that outcomes for these children may not be

promising in the majority of cases. To date, few studies have been completed that have begun to understand the concerns that parents experience as a result of the lack of independence of their children with autism and severe disabilities (Holmes & Carr, 1991; Adams et al., 1990).

One study that examined parental experiences in later life indicated that parents of individuals with autism report experiencing more difficulties since the child had grown up (Holmes & Carr, 1991). Holmes and Carr's (1991) sample was comprised of parents of adults with both Down's syndrome and autism. The authors were interested in determining whether caring became easier or harder as parents and the handicapped individual became older. They found that three-quarters of the parents of individuals with Down's syndrome thought that their son or daughter was less difficult to look after now that he/she had grown up. Conversely, only 37% of the parents of autistic individuals felt the same way. Parents of individuals with autism reported that "[t]hey had to deal with significantly more behaviour problems without the benefit of any regular, skilled professional advice" (Holmes & Carr, 1991, p. 174).

A second study exploring the experience of parents in caring for a child with severe disabilities found that parents reported issues relative to care over time (Adams et al., 1990). In describing their experiences, parents indicated deep concerns regarding the future of their child with severe disabilities. Specifically, mothers and fathers worry about what will happen to their child once they are no longer able to act as primary caregivers. "There were two variations on this theme: the first was concern that the child may not adapt to future placements other than the family home, and the second was concern about the adequacy of

future services for the child" (Adams et al., 1990, p.54). Severe disabilities were operationalized in this study to include children who exhibit extreme deficits in language, motor, and cognitive skills and who require assistance to meet their fundamental needs (Adams et al., 1990).

With little other research addressing parental experiences over time in caring for a child or adult with autism, it is difficult to draw any firm conclusions. It may be that parents of children with autism experience more behavioural difficulties as their child ages. In addition, parents may experience concerns regarding the future of their child and what will happen to the child as parents age and are no longer able to act as primary caregivers. It is premature to draw conclusions until more research is conducted that focuses specifically on autism and its unique challenges and stressors over time.

In summary, it is clear that parents raising a child with autism have experiences that merit research focusing specifically on this disability. And while several authors have focused on behavioural and developmental concerns that face children with autism, there is little known about how parents experience this disability as a result of being faced with such challenges. For example, it is apparent from past research that parents raising a child with autism experience stress for a variety of reasons. However, we know little about how such stress is managed. In addition, autism has an onset and developmental course that is different from other childhood disabilities. Over time, mothers and fathers

dealing with this disability are faced with issues related to the diagnosis and detection of autism. Furthermore, parents may struggle with the lack of independence of their children. An understanding of some of the above issues is necessary in order to better assist parents in managing when faced with this overwhelming challenge.

III. METHODOLOGY

With little information regarding the experiences of mothers and fathers over time in parenting a child with autism, it was important to choose an inductive method of inquiry. Researchers using an inductive approach to theory development do not organize data into a pre-chosen framework. Rather, theory in qualitative studies is developed from collected data. Grounded theory was chosen as the methodological approach to this research topic.

Grounded Theory

Grounded theory is one type of qualitative methodology. It is a highly systematic method of inquiry with the purpose of understanding social and psychological phenomenon and how individuals react in relation to such phenomena. Grounded theory makes the greatest contributions in areas where little research has been previously conducted (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986). Therefore, one of the major uses of this approach is in exploratory or descriptive studies.

In addition to being a method of inquiry useful for exploratory and descriptive research, grounded theory is process oriented and is useful in understanding phenomena and their relationships over time. The ultimate goal of analyzing qualitative data for process is to make sense of change in the

phenomena begin studied over time. "Process serves to integrate the who, what, when, where, and why of the problem under study" (Fagerhaugh, 1986, p.144).

A main goal of grounded theory is to produce abstract concepts and make decisions regarding the relationships between these concepts (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986). In doing this, grounded theory uses the constant comparative method of analysis. Comparisons are made throughout the entire process of the research. Through the comparative process, conceptual categories are generated as a result of evidence found within the data. Conceptual categories are of a general nature, while the properties of the categories are more specific.

During data collection and analysis, the researcher identifies a core category which is a main theme around which all of the other categories revolve (Corbin, 1986). The core category is the "main concern or problem for the people in the setting" (Glaser, 1978, p. 94). Glaser (1978) describes a basic social process (BSP) as one type of core category which has "two or more emergent stages" and "gives the feeling of process, changes, and movement over time" (p. 97).

In addition to the core category, other general concepts related to the core category also are identified during the process of data collection and analysis.

Grounded theory requires these identified concepts to be verified through continued data collection and analysis. This process continues until a concept or

category becomes saturated. Saturation occurs when no additional data are being found that assist in redefining the properties of a conceptual category.

As continued comparison of cases takes place, the researcher develops hypotheses about the relationships between concepts. As hypotheses develop, they are also verified through further data collection and analysis. The end result is interrelated concepts that "form an integrated central theoretical framework - the core of the emerging theory" (Glaser & Strauss, 1967, p. 40).

Existing literature also plays a role in the process of theory development. The researcher examines existing literature in order to provide more data that may assist in the process of abstracting concepts. Ongoing review of existing literature also generates ideas about concepts and their relationships which may affect the direction of theorizing (Glaser, 1978).

There exists some debate in the literature regarding the relationship of reliability and validity to qualitative research. Reliability refers to the ability of other researchers to replicate a study. Since the use of the grounded theory method is dependent on the "researcher's skill, creativity, time, resources, and analytic ability" (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986, p. 13), it is difficult to replicate a grounded theory study exactly. Chenitz and Swanson (1986) have identified the application of the theory to similar situations and settings over time to be of more

importance to reliability than whether or not the research can be replicated exactly.

A strategy that grounded theory researchers use to increase reliability, is to test hypotheses as they develop by checking with participants and their evaluation of the findings (Stern, 1985). This technique makes the findings reliable for the particular group that is being studied. Other techniques that could be used in qualitative research to increase reliability are peer evaluation and continued review of the literature (Field & Morse, 1985).

In qualitative research validity refers to the extent to which research results represent reality (Field & Morse, 1985). It focuses on the question of whether or not the theory is relevant to the group being studied. For example, a common threat to validity is the use of an inductive approach to a research question when a considerable amount is known about the topic.

Validity can be increased as a result of the researcher being aware of his/her own biases and assumptions and how those might affect the research process and the findings. As well, ongoing literature review during the data analysis and theory development process also helps to verify, elaborate, and identify factors which may not be evident in the hypotheses as they are being formulated (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986). Lastly, keeping detailed field notes

throughout the research process also allows the researcher to identify potential threats to validity.

Grounded theory was chosen as the most appropriate method of inquiry for this study due to its usefulness in exploratory and descriptive research. There are few theories that focus specifically on the experience of raising a child with autism. Existing studies focusing on the experience of raising a child with a disability have included a number of disabilities as part of their samples. As well, researchers mainly have examined the experiences of mothers in relation to the experiencing of parenting a child with autism. We cannot assume that parents of children with varying disabilities will experience things in the same manner nor can we assume that both mothers and fathers will have the same experiences.

The experience of parenting a child with autism is one that takes place over the span of a lifetime. Little research has been conducted to examine the nature of this process as it relates to this disability. Autism is a unique disability with symptoms, onset, and developmental course that are very different from those of other developmental disabilities.

Due to the need to develop theory specific to parenting a child with autism and to better understand the experiences of parents of children with autism over time, grounded theory is an appropriate approach to this research. It will

assist in developing a more specific and detailed understanding regarding the experience of parenting a child with autism as well as how both mothers and fathers may differ in their experience of this phenomenon.

Sampling and Data Collection

Sampling procedures in any research depend on the notion of representativeness. In many cases, "representativeness is assured by clarifying the critical variable(s) to be sought and assuring that there is a way to ascertain that the sample selected reflects these variables in the same way as does the population" (Kerlinger, 1973, p.9). In grounded theory research, the sample is not selected from the population based on certain variables prior to the study. "Rather, the initial sample is determined to examine the phenomena where it is found to exist" (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986, p.9). This sampling strategy is known as theoretical sampling. The use of theoretical sampling is a deliberate process based on the need to collect more data in order to examine the relationships between categories and to assure that representativeness exists in the data. Theoretical sampling has been described by Glaser (1978) as a method of sampling which depends on the process of data collection and analysis in order to promote the emergence of theory.

In using theoretical sampling, the researcher collects, codes, and analyzes the data and decides which data will be appropriate to collect next in order to

develop emerging theory (Glaser, 1978). Such decisions regarding which data will be appropriate are based on the need for the researcher to collect data that will assist in theory development based on data that is being collected and coded during the interviewing process. Therefore, sampling is controlled by the emerging theory.

Participants

The means of data collection was formal, unstructured interviews. As a means of initiating the interviews, the researcher discussed with participants the purpose of the study and the rights of the informants as participants in the study. Consent forms were signed by all individuals willing to participate (Appendix A). Demographic data were collected in order to assist the researcher in identifying characteristics of the sample (Appendix B). Each participant was interviewed a minimum of two times, with the exception of two participants, both whom moved from Edmonton prior to the second interview being conducted. Each interview was approximately one hour in length.

As data collection and analysis took place, theoretical sampling dictated the need to interview parents with varying characteristics and differing experiences. For example, participants were chosen as members of the sample due to the stage of the process that they were in and/or the age of their child with

autism, the birth order of the children in the family, and the gender of both the child with autism as well as the parents.

Parents who had a child with autism were identified as potential participants in this study. For practical reasons, parents were required to reside in Edmonton, Alberta or surrounding areas. They must have been willing to discuss their experiences in parenting a child with autism. The process of meeting with the first participant and subsequent participants included a meeting at either the informants' homes or the researcher's home. Initial contact was made with parents of children with autism at a Parent Support Group meeting hosted by the Edmonton Autism Society. An oral call for participants (Appendix C) was read to the parents at the support group meeting. Those individuals willing to allow the researcher to contact them regarding potential participation in the study were asked to provide their telephone numbers. It was made clear that in providing telephone numbers, individuals were not making a decision to participate in the study. Rather, they were allowing the researcher permission to contact them to discuss the possibility of participating in the research. In addition, all parents at the Support Group meeting were given a handout describing the research and were asked to contact the researcher should they be interested in knowing more about the study (Appendix C).

Recruitment also took place using a newsletter distributed by the Edmonton Autism Society in Edmonton, Alberta. A call for participants was included in the monthly newsletter (Appendix C). Those individuals willing to participate in the study were asked to contact the researcher for additional details. Upon contact with potential participants, the researcher explained the research project and asked the parents the age and gender of their child with autism in order to assist in theoretical sampling. At that time a potential list of participants was generated and used in theoretical sampling.

Once a list of potential participants was created through both the Support Group and the Edmonton Autism Society's newsletter, the process of theoretical sampling began. The first participant chosen was the mother of a six year-old boy with autism whose experience in the beginning phases of the process, including assessment and diagnosis was relatively recent. She was chosen as the first participant as her experience appeared typical and because it seemed appropriate to begin the study with an understanding of the beginning stages of the experience of autism.

The final sample consisted of eight parents of children with autism from six different families. All individuals were married although one participant had separated from her husband during the course of the study. All but one family was currently living in the same residence as their child with autism. This

participant's child with autism had been launched from the home and had been living in an institution several years prior to the participant's involvement in the research. Another family was involved in a shared-care situation in which their child stayed with a host family half of the time in order to provide the family with an opportunity for respite.

Of the eight participants, six were female and two were male. All of the female participants reported that their employment status had been affected as a result of the demands of their child with autism. The ages of the participants ranged from approximately 32 years to 65 years of age.

The procedure for interviews included participants being asked by the researcher to describe their experience in parenting a child with autism by starting at the beginning of their experience and continuing up to the present day.

Guiding questions used in the interviews included: a) Starting from the beginning and continuing up to the present day, can you tell me what raising a child with autism has been like for you?, b) What do you remember about the beginning of the process of dealing with your child's disability?, c) What has it been like for you as time has passed? These guiding questions were used to assist participants in describing their experiences to the researcher.

The second participant was chosen due to the age of his child with autism.

He was the father of a 14 year-old boy and as a result, had more experiences from

which to draw and provided the ability to examine more closely the aspect of time as well as any gender differences that may exist in dealing with a child of a different gender as well as differences that may result due to the gender of the parent. In addition, this child was the first child born to this family and allowed the opportunity to examine how birth order may have played a role in his experiences.

Following the completion of the initial interviews with the first two participants, hypotheses were raised as to the importance of the gender of the participants in experiencing autism. The first participant alluded to differences in her experience due to being the one that carried the child for 9 months. The second participant made mention of his reaction to his child having autism as being very different from that of his spouse. As a result of the questions that were raised, the next two participants chosen were the spouses of the first two participants.

Another question raised as a result of earlier interviews was whether the gender of the child played an important role in experiencing autism. This question was raised as a result of comments made by participants regarding being less or more concerned depending on the gender of their child with autism. Some participants indicated that they were less concerned about the seriousness of behavioural observations or missed milestones because they made assumptions

that boys develop more slowly than girls. Therefore, the next participant was chosen to examine further the possibility that the gender of the child played a role in parents' experiences. The fifth participant was chosen because she was the mother of a female child with autism.

Although data were generated that assisted in understanding the earlier stages of living with autism, there still existed gaps in the understanding of this time period and the common experiences with which it was associated. The next two participants were chosen as they were well-situated to be able to provide additional, more recent data regarding the early phases of raising a child with autism.

Following the completion of the above interviews, it became evident that additional information was needed to better understand the post-diagnosis experience. Interviews previously conducted provided some information regarding what parents experienced following the diagnosis of their child. However, with the children being relatively young, it was difficult to understand fully the implications of living with a child with autism over time. As a result, the next participant was chosen to assist in understanding the later stages of the process. This participant was the mother of a daughter with autism who was in her forties and had since been launched from her family's home.

As part of the process of data analysis, a set of conceptual categories were developed as a result of having completed first interviews. Second interviews, therefore, were focused on verifying information about categories and concepts that had been developed in earlier data collection and analysis (Appendix D). Interviews were conducted until the categories were considered saturated. Saturation of a category referred to the presence of a sufficient amount of data within a category so that it was considered theoretically complete.

Field notes containing supportive, descriptive information regarding the interviews as well as the researcher's thoughts about relationships between the concepts were kept as a reference to be used during data analysis. The field notes also provided direction during subsequent data collection.

Several themes were explored in second interviews. An example of a theme further examined in second interviews was that of the importance of social support. A common theme for parents in this study was the isolation that they experienced as part of parenting their child with autism. As the child aged it seemed as though parents were more comfortable in gaining access to supports. Early memos indicated that over time some participants found it necessary and somewhat easier to access support than they had previously. What remained unclear was how participants arrived at a point where they felt comfortable reaching out and accepting assistance and what the meaning of accepting support

was for parents. In addition, it was also not clear whether the experience of gaining access to social supports was a process that was similar for all participants. Second interview questions focused on individual differences in terms of whether or not supports were accessed as well as what types of supports that participants found helpful. In addition, participants were asked to describe their experiences with social support, how they got to a point where they found they were able to reach out to others, and what the meaning of support was for them.

Another theme explored in second interviews was that of the experience of loss. First interviews indicated parallels between the experience of raising a child with autism and the experience of losing a child as a result of death. The exact reasons for these parallels were not entirely clear. Second interviews explored further comments made by participants indicating that they had experienced a grief process as a result of learning that their child had autism.

Other areas explored in second interviews centred on: 1) the challenges that participants faced in illustrating their concerns regarding their child to health professionals and others, 2) expectations that parents had upon learning that their child had autism and some of the differences in coping as a result, 3) the frustrations that parents reported experiencing as a result of not having their concerns validated as well as having to make adjustments to their lives, 4) the

difficulty that participants experienced following the diagnosis of their child, especially when they saw other people's children that appeared to be developing normally, 5) the ways that the diagnosis was presented to the family and the impact of that, and 6) the experience of attempting to normalize the experience of raising a child with autism (Appendix D).

Data Analysis

Interviews were tape recorded and transcribed. Transcription took place as soon as possible after the termination of each interview. The constant comparative method of data analysis was performed (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). Following transcription, the researcher began by reading over the interview scripts and began making memos beside statements made by the participants. Memos were made in relation to emerging ideas that described the experience of parenting a child with autism. This began the process of coding the transcripts line by line. When an idea or experience emerged across successive interviews, a category was developed to encompass the theme related to those ideas or experiences.

Once first interviews were completed, there were certain commonalities that were identified as part of the experiences of participants. They experienced some common issues as part of caring for their children. These common experiences developed into major categories of the theory. To facilitate the

process of further category development, memos were generated to question the differences between participants' experiences and to assist in identifying areas of commonality.

Many participants in first interviews made references to the word normal when discussing their children's early stages of development. Questions were raised by the researcher through the analysis of data regarding whether there exists a period of normal development or whether indications of autism are present very early in the child's development.

Initially, it appeared that parents did experience a period of normalcy following the birth of their child. They spoke of being happy and feeling as though the time following the birth of their child was a magical time that went along perfectly. With further data collection, however, it became less clear what the commonalities were between parents in the early stages of the process. Some participants expressed a belief in the fact that their child had characteristics of autism from birth and did not develop normally as they had expected. With further questioning around this topic it became clear that even those that had indicated feeling that their child had autism from birth, did experience a period of expecting their child to be developing normally. It appeared as though the assumption that parents had that their children had autism very early on was as a

result of knowledge that they had developed due to examining their situation retrospectively.

Initial interview memos also raised questions regarding whether other individuals or family members were involved in the experience of dealing with autism, especially in the earlier phases which included concerns regarding the possibility that something was wrong with their child. Although some participants mentioned that others were involved, others failed to mention the involvement of anyone else. What was unclear was whether anyone was involved in assisting parents during the period of time during which they began to increase their concern regarding the possibility that something was seriously wrong with their child. Some participants appeared to indicate that this is an internal process while others clearly relied on outside sources to validate their concerns. The differences that were noticed in terms of how parents experienced autism raised the possibility that individuals experienced things differently as a result of having different styles of coping. Further questions around the involvement of others in the process were asked in order to clarify this issue.

The above are examples of memos and early questions that were raised and derived from the first interviews with participants. Following the development of memos related to the commonalities that existed within the data, data analysis next included grouping statements or ideas according to similarities.

Each similar group was given a category name. Examples of earlier categories included: Assuming Normalcy, Emerging Recognition, Seeking Information, Searching for Evidence of Normalcy, Coming to Terms with Autism, Learning to Live with Autism, and Restarting Life. As data analysis continued, categories changed and were combined in order to more accurately reflect the data and the experiences of participants.

Categories changed and developed and data collection and analysis proceeded. For example, the stage initially titled Emerging Recognition changed to Worrying about Differences to more accurately describe the main theme of this stage. The main theme of this time in parents' lives was the worry that they experienced as a result of certain behaviours that they were observing in their children. Another example of a change in a category was the stage initially entitled Learning to Live with Autism. As data collection and analysis took place, this stage changed. At one point it was thought that the main theme of the stage was the process of learning to live with autism that took place for parents. While learning to live with autism is a sub-theme of this stage, with further analysis, it seemed as though a process of redefining expectations more accurately described the main process that parents experienced. Finally, it was decided that Taking Action more adequately incorporated both aspects of learning to live with autism as well as the process of redefining expectations that took place for parents.

IV. FINDINGS

An assumption of the grounded theory method of inquiry is "that all groups share a specific social psychological 'problem'" (Hutchinson, 1986, p. 196). The basic social psychological problem in this study was reframing the vision of the child and family. Throughout the process, parents integrated their expectations of what they had hoped their life would be like with the reality of the demands of their life with a child with autism.

All other categories were incorporated into the core category. As data were collected and analyzed, six stages of the experience of raising a child with autism were identified and became the subcategories of the core category.

Stage I: Expecting Normal

The first stage in the process of raising a child with autism begins upon the birth of the child. Foundations for this stage are formed prior to pregnancy. The main theme of this stage is the expectations that participants developed regarding their child's development. Participants had notions of the experience of parenting and normative child development. Following the birth of their child, they expected that their child would develop according to those notions.

Throughout this stage the term normal was used to refer to the child meeting appropriate developmental milestones. During this stage parents reported

differing reactions as a result of having begun checking their expectations regarding their child's development. Some found that upon comparing their child with their views and with other children, they were convinced that their child was developing normally. Others reported noticing aspects of development that did not fit with their vision.

Participants reported using two means of checking the expectations that they had established regarding the development of their child. The first was by examining against their vision and expectations regarding what their child would be like. A mother discussed the view that she had developed regarding her child prior to her child's birth:

... I think certainly obviously we were looking toward just having a healthy child. ... But it didn't occur to me that ... problems could ensue later on or that you could find out that when your child is two or three years old that there could be something developmentally wrong with them (5f2).

Participants reported that their vision for their child was one of expecting normal development. They indicated having expectations that their child would meet developmental milestones, including developing language, learning to walk, learning social skills, as well as other expectations regarding what normal development would look like. Due to having these expectations a mother articulated her experience of relief following the birth of her child:

... it was just a relief to have her be born and count all of her fingers and toes and say they're there and oh yes, we have a wonderfully normal child.

And she seemed alert and responsive ... Because I think in our mind that when there's something wrong with your child it's going to be obvious from the get-go. That's it's gonna be something that they kind of rubber stamp them in the hospital and they go off to their families and this one's good and this one's bad ... (5f2).

Other parents commented regarding the expectations that they had for their children following birth. In discussing her experiences around expecting normal, a mother stated:

... you look to the immediate future, you know, ... growing up, teen years. ... I think you hope they'll be happy or something like that, or successful. I think we all wish this for our children (8f2).

A second way that parents checked their expectations of normal development was by comparing their child against what they saw as normal development in other children. Participants evaluated their expectations by comparing their child to other children in the family or to children at similar developmental levels. A mother spoke of her experience and the importance of comparing her second child with her first:

... because [he] was my second child and I was so close to the first one and so interested in my first child's development, I had that experience that helped me... It's a kind of framework (6f2).

Others with other children in their families with which to compare indicated checking specific aspects of their children's development. A father stated of his experience:

[What I was looking for was] ... that he was able to do the things that his sister could do at times. Like rolling over, walking, basic language, all came to him about the same time (3m2).

Other parents reported checking their expectations of normal against children in other contexts. Often this involved checking development through social situations, including play groups or other social contexts. A mother talked of her experience with a play group as being important to the comparison process:

I think ... the biggest thing was what I was talking about at the play group. Seeing normal children at that normal stage of development and that for me was, for me to go to that playgroup three times a week I could see what normal children were doing at that age (5f1).

Another parent spoke of comparing her son with other children in her neighborhood:

... I remember when he was ... maybe 8 or 9 months I became friends with a parent in our neighborhood. And she had a baby who was about a month older than ... [our son]. And I remember seeing that there was a lot of differences between the two of them with her son being a lot happier and more easygoing and a lot more responsive than my son (4f1).

Regardless of the means used to check the vision of normal development, the expectation was that the children would develop in a similar fashion to other children of the same age. Upon comparing, most parents indicated that their children's development was fitting with their vision. A mother spoke of feeling that her child was developing cognitively according to her expectations:

...[she] seemed extremely bright. ... She had a fantastic memory. Somebody would come in with a red tie, she would remember a month later (8f2).

Other parents made observations about the ways in which their child responded to the environment and the temperament with which they interacted. A father indicated about his son:

[he]... was reacting to parents the way that any other child would. [He was] reacting to his name when called. ... Eating, just everything was normal (3m2).

Regarding her son's temperament and appearance a mother stated:

```
... he was a perfect, perfect, baby. He was so cute, he was a happy baby, ... and so everything just went along magically ... (1f1).
```

A mother discussed a routine medical appointment at which time she was told that her child was developing normally:

From 4 months old when I went to the health unit. When the nurse told me, "He's completely normal, he's cute, he responds so well to every test..." And she said, "Congratulations, everything is fine" (6f1).

While most participants indicated feeling that their children were developing according to their vision, others noticed small differences. Some parents noticed aspects of development that did not fit with their views of normal development. However, such differences were dismissed and parents did not find reason to be concerned. A mother discussed her experience in this regard, almost immediately following the birth of her daughter:

... from day one, from the hospital I thought, "This seems strange." ... She cried a lot. ... She didn't like to be held, it seemed like she was kind of repulsed by human contact. And that seemed very strange to me. She would arch her back and try to almost get away, even as a little baby, as an

infant. ... Even a couple of days, a couple of weeks home from the hospital. And ... I remember thinking that and then sort of dismissing it thinking, "That's ridiculous. How could that be possible?" (5f2).

Of her experience another mother stated that she had thought her son had colic as a result of the behaviours he was exhibiting:

... when my first child, when he cried ... it was for a certain period of time, but I could calm him down, help him, to comfort him. By feeding him if he was cold or too warm. I could help. But with [my second son] he was two weeks old and there was no way. And I was wondering if it was colic because my first child had colic for many months (6f2).

Stage II: Worrying about Differences

The second stage identified by participants as part of the process of raising their child is Worrying about Differences. During this stage participants began to notice discrepancies between the expectations that they had regarding their children as well as the differences between their children's development and that of other children. Although some parents had noticed differences in the previous stages, they found that during this stage they were unable to dismiss what they noticed. The first aspect of development that caused parents to worry during this stage was that of missed milestones. Other aspects of development that they noticed were odd behaviours. Such behaviours were very odd and could not be ignored by parents.

Some participants indicated that they began to notice a lack of normal development in their children. They began to recognize that their child was not

meeting fundamental developmental milestones, which included not developing language, losing previously developed language, as well as other communication or social difficulties. These behaviours caused parents to become concerned. A mother described her son's lack of language development: "And then in the summer we started to notice that he wasn't talking" (1f1).

Another parent indicated that his son had lost certain language capacities that were previously developing well:

And then things just started falling apart. You know, he lost words and would stop talking and ... would stop saying the words that he had. Which we thought, well maybe he's just lost that word, he's just not saying it.We thought he was having hearing problems and the big kicker was that he would never respond to us anymore verbally and he had always done that right from the get-go (3m1, 3m2).

A mother affirmed this father's experience by speaking of her son's loss of words:

We think of it as he just sort of gradually sort of started shutting down more and more and more. So the words he had, the language that he had, all of a sudden he wouldn't say. And that, from the little boy that... would run to the door to greet you and would be so involved in the party. ... Next thing we knew is that he was ... just totally isolated from... the rest of us. That he just didn't respond (1f2).

Other parents concurred with concerns regarding missed milestones and lack of development. Aside from language, children during this stage were missing other milestones, including those related to social development and other aspects of communication. A mother discussed her son's difficulties both in terms of language development as well as communication:

... when [our son] was about 18 months we started noticing not so much that he was doing strange things but it was the lack of things that he was doing. ... Not pointing, not trying to make any attempts to speak (7f1).

Another mother concurred with observations of communication difficulties:

There was no eye contact, there was no way to communicate. ... He communicated with me only when he could. But there was no consistency (6f2).

Also during this stage, participants began to notice odd behaviours that did not seem to fit with their views or experiences regarding the way that their child should be developing. Such behaviours included fixation on certain stimuli, lack of eye contact, arm-flapping, breathing difficulties, and echolalia. A mother described her son's lack of interaction:

... I remember very well when he was about from 8 months old he was sitting in the living room and watching his hands for hours. And I wanted to interact with him and he didn't seem to respond and I was very worried (6f1).

Another participant also indicated noticing a certain strangeness in terms of her son's pattern of interacting:

... right after the surgery ... he was sitting on the resident doctor's lap and he was looking at me ..., but it looked like he was looking through me (4f1).

Aside from strange social interaction patterns, participants noticed oddities in other areas. A parent described the behaviours that he and his wife had not seen previously:

And then I remember in the summer, probably July or August, he started flapping his arms and ... we didn't know what it was, just whatever (3m2).

Other behaviours identified as odd included excessive crying, which in one case caused a mother serious alarm:

... the way that he cried was unusual to the point that he couldn't breathe normally, he'd turn blue and stop breathing for too long. And it was without stop (6f2).

Lastly, a mother recognized that her daughter was repeating phrases that she and other family members would say:

... she started doing things like ... when you asked her something, echolalia. You know, she would repeat it. ... She would repeat things like, "Do you want a cookie?" (8f1, 8f2).

Participants during this stage did not know how to explain the behaviours and/or lack of development that they were noticing. Most indicated that they felt reason to be concerned and sought assurance from friends and family members about what they were seeing by putting their concerns into words for the first time. A mother indicated checking with parents from her daughter's playgroup regarding her concerns:

And I remember asking the other moms in the playgroup if they noticed anything different or strange about her (5f1).

Another parent spoke of verbalizing her concerns to her neighbour:

So you'd say to the lady next door or down the hall about [our daughter] doing this [echolalia], and they'd say, "Oh yes, my son did that and it's a

habit they get into. They're learning speech so they repeat what you've said" (8f1).

Parents indicated that in verbalizing to others their worries, they were hoping for assurance and support that their child was developing appropriately.

Usually parents were given the assurance for which they wished. A mother spoke of her husband's reaction to her worry:

My husband told me, "Stop saying that kind of thing. It's not possible [that something is wrong]. He's just different from the first one" (6f1).

Others shared in the experience of having immediate family members tell them that everything was okay. A participant spoke of her husband's reaction to her concerns:

...he, [my husband], was really unprepared to hear any of that from me. ... It was his defense to really go the other way and really try to convince me ... that everything was right about her (5f1).

A participant described addressing her concerns with her in-laws:

... by the time he was a year my in-laws ... came over to visit and I asked them if there was anything unusual about him. They were really child-oriented and loved babies and all that. And my mother-in-law said, "No, there's nothing wrong with him" (4f1).

While it appeared to be most common for participants to share what they were noticing with individuals inside the immediate family, others spoke of articulating their concerns to friends. Reactions from those outside the family tended to be similar. In discussing with other parents what she had noticed in terms of her son's language development a mother got the following reaction:

... people would say, "Oh, there's nothing wrong with him, Einstein didn't talk until he was four" (4f1).

Another mother received validation from parents of children that were involved in a play group:

And I remember asking the other moms in the playgroup if they noticed anything different or strange about her. And they said, "Oh no, she sort of ... likes to keep to herself and everything but, you know, she'll grow out of this" (5f1).

Stage III: Needing to Know

The next stage focused on parents needing to know what was happening with their child. Throughout the previous stage, parents were given assurance that they did not have reason to be worried. Many did not accept the assurance that they received and felt that they needed more information to explain what they were noticing. Participants during this stage began the process of acquiring information due to an awareness that there may be something not quite right with their child's development. Parents made a decision to further explore their concerns by accessing formal avenues of information. A second aspect of this stage is that many parents, although now wanting information and support, did not receive the information that they wanted.

Parents by this time reported feeling very worried about their child's development. In many cases, new symptoms began to develop. As well,

symptoms and behaviours noticed in the previous stage worsened. A mother described the continuation and worsening of the odd behaviours of her son:

He ... was impulsive also, he played with soil everywhere. ... And I couldn't leave him one second. Because it was a mess everywhere in the house. He jumped off the table and was nude. He took off his ... diaper and jumps every, everywhere. He spit without stop. ... He couldn't sit, he couldn't (6f1).

Of the behaviours that her daughter was exhibiting to cause more serious concern a mother stated:

And she wasn't interested in being around the other kids at all. And her language still was very strange and not social and the other kids were referring to their mom as mommy and I thought, "She doesn't do that." You know, that's really strange (5f1).

With their level of concern increasing, parents found it necessary to look for resources and supports that would assist in explaining what they were observing might mean. The resources that parents sought included the opinions of professionals within the community as well as other sources, including literature. A mother spoke of needing to know how to explain her daughter's behaviours:

... I just picked up [my husband's] pediatrics textbook which didn't have a lot in it, but it had a little chapter on Pervasive Developmental Disorder and I looked through it and was horrified because I knew that it was her. And there was a little vignette about a boy that sounded almost completely, exactly like her and I was horrified at the thought of it and I knew in my heart at the time that that's what the problem was (5f2).

-

Other parents have indicated that they sought information within the formal health care system. Parents discussed the need at this time to consult with pediatricians or general practitioners regarding their child's development.

Concerns brought to the attention of health care professionals tended to focus on such issues as hearing, lack of responsiveness, lack of language development, and lack of affection. A mother spoke of her worriedness regarding her son in terms of both his language and social responsiveness:

I'm worried, very worried about his development. No speech, but no babbling, no cuddling, nothing (6fl).

Other parents conveyed worriedness regarding communication difficulties as their children did not appear to respond appropriately to them. A mother talked of her experience in trying to relate to her daughter:

... I wondered if she was a bit deaf. You know, I would talk to her and she would not reply on occasion (8f1).

Of similar concerns that she presented to the doctor a mother stated:

... it was like we were talking in Greek. He had no concept of conversations and so, "Point to your nose." He never, you know, two months of [my husband] playing the point to your nose game and he still isn't pointing to his nose. Or [telling him to go] get his coat. You know, things that even if children couldn't express themselves, they could respond to language. And that for me was before I knew about expressive and receptive language. And that was the one thing that really stood out, was that receptively, he hasn't got a clue (1f2).

Parents often did not get the information for which they were looking.

Contact with the health care system tended to vary and the success of participants

in acquiring the information that they wanted depended on two factors. Such factors included the doctors' level of expertise regarding developmental difficulties and the persistence of parents in seeking the information. Parents indicated feeling frustrated with their experiences.

One aspect of the frustration was related to the difficulty parents had in articulating their concerns. A mother described her experience in explaining to health care professionals what she had noticed:

And I knew there was something unusual but it was very hard for me to explain what it was and it was very frustrating to know that at the hospital nothing happened (6f1).

In addition to the frustration of attempting to explain their children's difficulties and behaviours to others, parents spoke of feeling frustrated with the reactions that they received from physicians and other professionals. Participants reported that after expressing their concerns to others they were initially dismissed. There were three ways in which doctors dismissed parents' concerns:

1) by assuring them that there was not a problem with their child. A mother stated:

I went to the U of A Hospital. And she said, "I don't see [anything wrong]." It was just the opposite. "He's typical, he's normal. He has a delay of speech probably because he had a lot of ear infections but I don't see anything" (6f1).

2) by reserving judgement. Oftentimes doctors told parents that although they noticed difficulties, they should not be concerned or should reserve judgement

until their child was older. A participant described her concerns being dismissed due to the young age of her child and the short time that the physician spent examining him:

I said, "I'm very worried. At 8 months old this child doesn't respond at all the way most of them do, ... I'm very worried." And he said, "Now he's young. We're gonna help you to observe the development." ... He couldn't validate what I observed because he saw him for ten minutes (6f2).

Other parents related to having their concerns dismissed as a result of the age of their child. Oftentimes, physicians would state that it was too early to be worried. A mother described such an experience:

And the doctor said, "Oh, we don't have to be worried now. He's just 12 months old. And that's fine he doesn't speak" (6f1).

Of her several visits to the doctor, a parent spoke of receiving confirmation that her child was developing normally and that if she continued to have worries, they should be addressed once the child was somewhat older:

... we went to the pediatrician quite a few times. ... He was saying, "Don't worry about it. You know, wait until he's at least three." You know, right from about eighteen months on he was saying, "Wait until he's over two." And then when he was two, it was, "Wait until he's over three. Everything's fine. He's developing normally." ... It was very, very frustrating. Nights and nights of crying and crying and just why didn't anybody listen to us? (7f1).

Another parent spoke of a similar experience in relating her concerns to the doctor:

Well I just sort of articulated what I saw and I was not dismissed in the sense of, "Oh, this is sillly." I remember what was said at the time was, "I kind of hear your concerns, but she's also kind of young." And you get this speech about the speed in development for kids, right? And I remember thinking, "It':s more than that." It's not just the fact that some of this stuff is ... how to say it? It's not even that she was starting to show even the glimpses of some of the beginning of some of those skills, it's just that they weren't there and they showed no signs of coming. And I guess that's sort of what I tried to convey to this pediatrician (5f2).

3) by blaming the parents for the behaviours that had surfaced in their child. A mother spoke of her experiences of being blamed for her son's difficulties:

And my professors told: me, "Don't be too worried, every child is different. Be careful four the future if you are overprotective like that with your children you can cause more problems than you think. Cause maybe you have yourself a lot of problems" (6f1).

Other parents have had similar experiences that have caused them to feel at fault for some of the behaviours that their children were exhibiting. A father spoke of his wife's experience with a pecliatrician that he felt was damaging at the time:

There was one awful sitruation that ... [my wife] was in where, unfortunately I wasn't there. ... The pediatrician just started reading the riot act to [my wife] about being an overly indulgent parent and [said]..., "If you keep treating hirm like this he'll be stealing cars by the time he's fourteen" (2m1).

Participants have indicatted that it was a frustrating experience to be dismissed by professionals whern they approached them with concerns. The lack of support that parents received caused them to doubt their own judgement and question their parenting capabil ities. A mother spoke of her experience of questioning her skills:

I felt so bad because everybody denied that there was something wrong. ... But... I felt guilty in a way, not to know how to deal with that kind of child. And I felt so guilty I thought it's cause my child, from that time, when the speech pathologist told me, "Maybe it's you, you have a problem. You need to stop comparing your child with the first one and maybe to rest." Because I was a full-time student at university and a full-time mom at home. And but at that time I knew there was something wrong. I knew. But the problem was I took every problem I saw in my child towards me. I felt guilty. I thought it was, everything was cause of me because nobody validated what I really noticed (6f1).

In speaking of her experience, another mother discussed how the comments made to her by her doctor caused her to doubt her judgement:

It was a horrible, horrible experience. And, ... he was implying that [my son] was manipulating me and I was spending every ounce of my energy trying to console him. So I ended up looking at [my son] and saying, "Is this what you're doing to me, are you manipulating me?" You know, I was just humiliated (3f1).

Stage IV: Having it Real

During this stage, parents reported having felt heard by the health care system for the first time. Due to the persistence of parents in needing to know what was wrong with their child, they received a referral for a specialized assessment during this stage. For the first time the word autism was mentioned. By the end of this stage, parents had learned from professionals that their child was officially diagnosed with autism. Parents then attempted to make sense of autism and the reality of their new world.

At the beginning of this stage parents indicated the importance of persisting by making frequent visits to the doctor in order to acquire the support that they needed. Of her frequent visits to the doctor a mother stated:

... We started going to the pediatrician pretty much monthly because things weren't improving, and pushing and pushing. And finally after a year and half of that, from the time he was eighteen months to the time he was three. It took that long to get him assessed (7f1).

Another parent voiced the need to be persistent:

When I talked to the speech pathologist, I said, "... And nothing works, I feel useless. I feel powerless. I don't know what to do." It was on the phone. And I said, "I need some help, please. It's an emergency" (6f2).

As a result of parental persistence in many cases, participants were referred for an assessment to determine the nature of their children's developmental delays. This meant being referred to another, more specialized, level of the health care system. The assessment process was one that took place over the course of one or two days. Parents reported feeling anxiety about the process of receiving the assessment for their child. Although they did not know what to expect, they reported feeling anxious due to the perceived seriousness of the situation and the need for an assessment to take place. As well, there was anxiety around the fact that parents would now learn the specifics regarding their children's developmental capacities. A mother described her anxiety with respect to having her son assessed:

And the actual assessment itself ... I was an absolute nutcase about it by the time it came. I was just on pins and needles, a really hard day for [our son] to get through (4f1).

Other parents agreed with the assessment process being difficult. A mother spoke of her experience in this regard:

And ... we arrived at the Glenrose and went through the whole rigors of that and... it was a difficult experience, more difficult than I anticipated (1f1).

In describing the assessment another parent spoke of the difficulty that she had in learning the exact nature of her daughter's delays:

Well that assessment process as you know is a couple of days in length and it was probably a little more difficult than I thought it would have been. ... But during that experience of two days I think what was hard about it was to find out the finer details about ... where her difficulties were and ... where you plot your child in terms of their development (5f2).

Following the assessment process, parents learned that their children had autism. Parents spoke of the shock that they experienced as a result of having heard the diagnosis for certain. A parent expressed the difficulty that she had in this regard:

... I wasn't prepared for the fact of hearing it. I think, having it real. And I remember thinking that it is almost one of those things you can't turn back after that. ... I remember almost feeling like I was out of my body when I was hearing it (5f1).

Others related the difficulty of having the diagnosis confirmed. Of the shock that she experienced a mother stated:

.

...it was the biggest shock of my life. I felt like the whole world had just opened up and just engulfed me. There was nothing that had prepared me (1f1).

The spouse of the above participant agreed with the experience of shock:

... we heard the word from the pediatrician. ... She said she saw signs of autism and that just blew us out of the water (3m2).

In this stage, the learning of the diagnosis confirmed many parents' suspicions. Despite the unpreparedness of hearing the diagnosis, participants also spoke of feeling a sense of relief at having autism made real. In previous stages, parents searched for information and recognition regarding behaviours and developmental delays that they noticed and did not receive any. Many parents doubted their own judgement or experienced guilt as a result of not being provided with the necessary information to explain their concerns. They reported finally having the recognition that they searched for in the previous stage. A mother spoke of being able to let go of her feelings of self-blame:

It was a relief cause I always asked for help and people always blamed me. ... It was a real relief cause, from that time I didn't feel guilty at all. It's extremely frustrating to give and give and give and give without stop and not get results (6f1).

Another parent agreed with the diagnosis providing the opportunity to release feelings of self-blame:

But then I'd have to say that having that diagnosis was terrible in a sense but in a way it was kind of a relief and it was, it was almost like a burden was lifted off of me because then I realized that this is not our fault. And this is not something that we have inflicted upon her (5fl).

In addition to the sense of relief in knowing that what they had noticed previously was legitimate, parents expressed feeling relief that they finally had an explanation for their son or daughter's behaviours. Of her experience of relief in this regard a mother stated:

It was a relief. It was a relief to finally know what it was. Because once I knew what it was I could find books and understand, learn to understand how to deal with him and how to help him learn (7f1).

Although all parents reported experiencing a sense of shock and relief, there were variations in the speed at which parents were able to integrate the diagnosis after hearing it for the first time. Some participants did not fully understand the reality of the situation while others immediately were devastated. For example, some participants indicated that they had convinced themselves and sometimes others, that the prognosis for their child was not so bad. A mother stated about wanting to believe that her child's diagnosis was mild:

I think I was holding out the hope that [she would be mild]... cause somehow in my mind [I was] thinking that it would be easier to deal with somehow if she was mild.

In elaborating on her hope for her daughter's diagnosis to be mild, the same parent expressed her views regarding treatment as a result:

I think that both [my husband] and I were holding out for the fact that yes, she may be autistic but it is probably mild. ... And I think secretly in the back of our minds we thought that some way we could find some treatment that would normalize her (5f1).

Other participants agreed with the hope that their children's autism would be mild. A mother spoke of her experience in describing her son's disability to others:

So that's when I knew it was autism and not autistic tendencies. ... I even went around telling people that he had mild autism. We thought he was quite bright at that point. He was able to put together puzzles with great speed ... and the way he slapped together a puzzle was quite phenomenal (4f1).

The hope that the diagnosis would be mild tended to be the result of a number of factors including previous knowledge and experience regarding autism, the ways in which the child behaved, and the manner in which the diagnosis was presented to families.

Those that had little prior knowledge and experience with autism reported not knowing what to expect upon learning the diagnosis. Since they had no frame of reference, parents reported expecting their child's prognosis to be less severe than they later learned it was. A father speaks of his experience and the hope that he had that his son's disability would be mild:

I didn't know what to expect from it. I remember he did lots of things normally, physically. So I always kind of held out the hope that he really wasn't severe because he had good gross motor skills. ... I was trying to hope, ... lean on the stuff that he could do. And hope it wasn't as bad... (3m2).

A mother concurred with the impact that lack of knowledge regarding autism had on her interpretation of the disability:

... and I didn't have a very realistic understanding of what autism was. I mean, what I saw was, you know, this child totally withdrawn with no affection and hiding and hitting themselves in the corner. I mean, that wasmy image of autism and [our son] had always been extremely affectionate with me, so that was of course my first response. I thought, it can't be because he's so affectionate (1f1).

Still other parents reported that their belief that their child's diagnosis would be mild was largely due to the fact that he/she was showing some signs of development which were age-appropriate. A mother stated of her son's ability to communicate:

But the doctor told my husband and I, "You worked a lot with that child. It is obvious. Cause he can have eye contact which is not perfect, but he tries to communicate" (6f1).

A father described his son's language development as contributing to his belief that he must be okay:

... he's doing some extraordinary things, he's learning the alphabet. ... So he must be okay, right? (2m1).

Lastly, parents spoke about the way in which the diagnosis was presented as being a factor in their interpretation of the situation. A father spoke of the way that the diagnosis was presented to his family:

... when he was diagnosed I don't think I understood the significance of the affliction. ... The diagnosis was done by somebody at the Glenrose who was very upbeat about [our son's] potential. And, ... I think in retrospect, unreasonably upbeat (2m1).

The above parent indicated that the optimism with which the diagnosis was presented caused him to view his son's prognosis in an unrealistic light. Another parent agreed:

... the doctor told us, "You know there are several programs that exist and your child has a lot of delays in his development. But about creativity we don't see problems, about cognitive development. It was uneven, but we are sure he can go to school. ... We can see that he's bright" (6f2).

While the majority of participants indicated that their reaction to learning the diagnosis of their child was one of expecting the prognosis to be good, others stated that the reality of the situation affected them immediately and they expected the worst for their child's future. A mother spoke of her experience of expecting the worst immediately following the diagnosis of her son:

It was a life sentence. It was, it was the most horrific thing I could imagine. ... [My husband's] mom was the, she was the expeditor. She just pulled in all the stops. ... I needed someone to mobilize me cause I was so depressed. ... So I admire some parents that get right on it a lot faster than what I was able to do (1f2).

Another mother that had previously hoped that her child would have mild autism, stated that upon learning the details of her daughter's functioning level, she was devastated:

You know, she's at a 9 month level here or an 18 month level there. That was devastating for me. As a matter of fact, it really took me off guard.

... And I remember hanging on to the chair thinking I was going to fall off it because I was unprepared. I knew she was lagging behind in her development, I thought, "Maybe a year in this." I just had no idea and it really, really threw me for a loop as to find out exactly, you know, the seriousness, I guess. I guess we were holding out for the fact that, "Yes,

she's autistic, but it's mild." You know, that's kind of what I wanted to hear. And to leave that process and find out that she was not only autistic, but she was quite severe, in the severe-profound category, that just about killed me (5f2).

Once participants were able to integrate the reality of the diagnosis all reported feeling a profound sense of loss. They attributed the feeling of loss to having to let go of and modify the expectations regarding their child that they had previously developed. Many parents have likened this sense of loss as a result of their expectations not being met to that experienced by a parent when a child is lost through death. Part of the profound sense of loss that parents experienced appeared to be a result of having to let go of the expectations that they developed for the child that they brought home from the hospital. In relating his sense of loss a father stated:

It is like a death. Cause I mean in, like I said, [my son] died for me in, you know, May and June of 1994. He's not the kid who we brought home from the hospital. He's just a completely different being, it seems (3m1).

Others agreed with having to let go of expectations that they had for their child.

A mother stated of her experience:

You know, I think in some ways for us ... it was like [our son] died. Really like dealing with his death and we got in his place ... something far ... [different] than the earlier edition (1f1).

Another mother spoke of experiencing loss as a result of having to let go of the expectations that she had for her daughter's future:

It's terrible, you know, it's like a death. You know, it's just like somebody took your heart and ripped it out. And I remember thinking that night just how awful I felt because ... I felt terrible for her that she would ... never have any of these opportunities that we all hoped for her or wanted for her. That she would miss out on all of that (5f1).

A parent reported the difficulty that she experienced in not having the emotional space to deal with her grief as a result of the demands of her child:

... it's probably in my opinion worse than when a parent actually loses a child because they have died. Because ... for the first little while ... you are grieving the child that you thought you had and this other child that you really don't know and understand but you have to be there for and take care of twenty-four hours a day (7f1).

As a result of the sense of loss and the challenges in accepting the reality of their situation, participants during this stage reported finding it difficult to be in social situations. The challenges of understanding the implications of a lifelong disability caused parents to avoid obtaining both formal and informal supports for their family at this time. The first reason for this was that parents reported having difficulties discussing their circumstances, especially since the diagnosis was new. Of her experience a mother stated:

... so it was really painful to be around our friends and ... we felt really isolated for a fairly long stretch. And some of that was self-imposed because we couldn't talk about it (1f1).

A second reason for the isolation that parents experienced was that they felt that others did not understand their situation. Of this belief a mother stated:

... anybody that you talk to, even friends that are close to you, don't get it. They just don't understand what you are going through (7f1).

Another parent agreed with the lack of understanding of others:

It was a mix of emotions but I was extremely sad for a long time. Sad and so apart from other people. Cause I felt isolated and as if nobody could understand and nobody could help (6f1).

The last reason that parents isolated themselves from others was because they found it painful to be around other children at similar ages to their children with autism. Seeing other children who appeared to be developing normally contributed greatly to parents' sense of loss. In seeing what other children were able to do, it was made obvious to parents what their child was unable to do. When asked what she found difficult about seeing other children a mother responded:

... because my child still looked normal. The problem is in the brain. I cannot put a label on his forehead and say, "He is different, respect the difference." ... And I saw these children and parents who were proud and happy and I told myself, "I would just like everybody to appreciate that there's a connection with the balance in their child's brain and the body." And mine, there's something very, very difficult, very wrong. It's a big problem in the brain. I was ... upset. I was upset (6f2).

Of having a similar experience another parent stated:

I actually found it very painful [to be around other children] who were [my daughter's age]. And my niece who was a year older ..., I just found, I found myself not wanting to be at family functions and not wanting to be around her. And I mean, she's a sweet little girl who is oblivious to all of it. But I remember thinking, "It kills me to see other kids who [are] doing what my child [should be] doing." And I remember thinking just how unjust it was and how, you know, you think you do all the right things during your pregnancy or whatever to be able to produce this normal, perfect child and I remember just thinking ..., "It's not fair." And I

remember looking at other kids in the grocery store and ... thinking, "Gosh, don't you realize what you have?" ... [I would] just ... be really hypersensitive to that (5f2).

Stage V: Taking Action

During this stage parents began the process of taking action to be able to better understand and manage autism. Many participants indicated not having accurate information to be able to fully understand what they would be dealing with. Their knowledge and experience with autism was limited. Therefore, the decision to take action involved accessing the necessary supports in order to be able to adequately manage. As a result of having accessed support, participants then began to incorporate the knowledge that they had obtained. Part of the incorporation of information regarding autism involved a choice by parents to redefine the expectations that they had for themselves, their child with autism, and their family unit.

Participants had little previous knowledge of autism. Many stated that part of the challenge of learning to live with autism was a lack of understanding of the disability and the many ways it would impact upon their lives. For example, a father indicated that his only knowledge of autism was a result of having heard about it through the media:

[I] ... didn't know what it was basically. You know, you've heard of it, you know it's some kind of thing that causes whatever it causes and ... the only reference I had was Dustin Hoffman and Rain Man ... (3m2).

A mother spoke of the devastation she felt as a result of the lack of knowledge that she had regarding autism:

... I felt so devastated in front of that kind of disability. I didn't know anybody who had a child with autism. I didn't know a lot about autism (6f2).

Another parent spoke of the limited understanding she had of autism:

I had some very ... I guess, sort of stereotypical notions about what it was. ... I knew that stereotypical behaviour was part of it. But generally what I thought of was the kid rocking in the corner, you know, that that's what they do (5f1).

The lack of knowledge fueled parents' decisions to look for support to augment their understanding of the disability. Because participants felt that they needed additional knowledge and information regarding autism, they began to access supports to assist in this process. Supports that parents accessed included those that directly affected the child with autism as well as those that provided resources to family members.

One type of support that parents accessed was services to assist their child. Parents found it necessary at this time to ensure that services were in place for their child. This included services both inside and outside the home, depending on the needs of the child and the family as well as the comfort level of parents with the range of services that were available to them. Participants and their families accessed supports for their child with autism because they realized that their child had specialized needs and that they could not handle coping with this

disability in isolation. A parent spoke of the decision to enroll her son in preschool:

... from the time at the Glenrose ... we were told well, special ed. preschools are probably the best place for him. ... So we enrolled him in a special ed. preschool and I remember the interview at the school ... (7f1).

Another parent whose child was not yet school-aged, spoke of accessing early intervention resources for her child:

We had services in place for [our son] right away in '95. We had him in the GRIT program ... (3m1).

While finding appropriate schooling, early intervention, or child care resources was important to parents at this time, some participants also indicated the need to put supports in place in their homes to assist them in managing and dealing with their child's behaviours and specialized needs. A mother spoke of her family's experience with in-home supports:

So it was just sort of a gradual thing where we started getting more and more and more in-home relief to the point where her sleep was just really, really bad and we had to have people come in for overnight shifts. So we were at a point for relief where we were having people in the house for probably about five or six days a week (5f1).

Another parent agreed with the importance of having supports in her home:

... I started a program with [Community Behavioural Services]. It was a very intensive program, everyday for two months. ... At home we started ABA program about ... three to four weeks ago. It makes a big difference and everybody notices that they only have to show him, to teach him something once (6f1).

During this stage participants also indicated feeling a need to access supports for themselves. There were differences indicated in the types of supports that people preferred as well as how each participant participated in such activities. Many parents spoke of the importance of reaching out to other parents that were experiencing the same types of difficulties as they were. A mother described her experience with support groups in the following way:

... they [Support Groups] were such an outlet for me. That we'd been carrying this weight around and finally talked about it with people. ... At least you knew that somebody knew what life was like (1f1).

Other parents agreed with the importance of connecting with other parents who shared similar experiences. One mother spoke of feeling energized as a result of having an outlet to discuss the challenges that she experienced in her life:

... I find that when I meet in the context of the group or go for coffee with a mom who has a child with autism, I find that it just kind of gives me that kind of boost I need just to go on and face the rest of my life (5f1).

The same parent talked further about the benefits that she felt as a result of talking with other parents:

But certainly at that beginning time I think that it's so important and it was for me, to have to glom onto other parents in the same situation because it's almost like, you know, meeting other people from Mars or something when you've been just dropped down from the planet, you know. Because, I mean, you just feel so alien. And to meet another person with the same issues is just amazing. ... I remember going through ..., it was almost six months after [our daughter] was diagnosed that we were able to meet other people and I remember thinking that it was just the greatest thing in the world (5f2).

While some participants clearly felt that talking about their experiences with other parents was important to them, others were able to use support groups in a different fashion. Some parents indicated not feeling ready or comfortable sharing their experiences at this time, but felt that they still benefited from hearing the experiences of others. A father expressed the benefit that he received from attending Support Groups and learning vicariously from others' experiences:

... in some ways it was great because you saw women that were willing to share their feelings. So you could sit back and listen and you could say, "Yeah, that's how it felt." And ... it's very non-threatening. I can sit here and listen. And share things if I want. And I tended to do, my involvement tended to be in the process of running things. ... We went to the Autism Society Support Group a couple times. ... I found it really intimidating cause it was the first year and it was still really raw. ... I kinda got really intimidated by this ... cause the facilitator went around and made sure that everyone spoke their peace and whatnot. So you had no choice. ... So yeah, ... I know that it helps and I guess that was part of the healing process too, was to let it out and realize that ... with time it gets easier to share ... (3m2).

The same father discussed another situation apart from the context of the Support Groups that he felt assisted in his management of autism:

And I tended to do, my involvement tended to be in the process of running things. ... That would be sort of where I jumped in. And when we'd have, you know, sessions where you'd have a person come in and talk about some aspect of life with a disabled child or whatever, ... you know, I felt that I can offer if I want, but quite often I get to listen and vicariously share in what's going on (3m2).

There were many participants that found it useful and an important part of dealing with their sense of loss to be able to attend support groups and other more

informal contexts in order to share their experiences. In addition, hearing about others' experiences provided parents with some tools and suggestions in terms of how to deal with certain behaviours or concerns regarding their children.

The process of accessing supports for both the family and themselves afforded parents the opportunity to be in a better position to recognize the limitations that autism posed on their families. For example, a father described the limitations that his son placed on his family's social life:

I think it's certainly true that if [our son] was not ... autistic, or if we didn't have [him] at all, our life would be very different. [He] ... wants to stay at home and ... he doesn't really like going out very much. And so ... we probably are much more housebound (2m1).

The above father's spouse agreed with the restrictions on their social life:

... [our son] has restricted my social life in particular. ... I found him ... impossible to take to people's houses because he would just cry and cry and cry the whole time and it is just awful (4f1).

A mother spoke of the challenges that her family faced as a result of her not being able to work outside the home:

... we are finding it very challenging at this point. A lot of it is the fact that I can't work. ... If [our son] was a typical child he would be in kindergarten a half a day a week and I still may not be working this year because of that (7f1).

As a result of having accessed supports and information as well as having their own practical experience and some understanding of what they would be facing, parents were able at this time to begin a process of incorporating the

knowledge that they had regarding autism. They realized that their life as they knew it would have to change in order to facilitate a healthy adjustment to autism. They began to redefine their expectations as a result of this realization. The first set of expectations that were modified were those related directly to the child and his/her development. Expectations that parents had for their children had to be reconciled with the capabilities of the child. One mother describes this change as follows:

I think I've come to terms with [the future], how we deal with life and how far ahead I look and my expectations. ... I guess I live more day to day. I used to be very future-oriented and ... it just challenged the core of your expectations. You have this idea about your life and you see your kids getting married and your kids graduating from school. Well, we're talking about even more basic than this, we're talking about expectations that my child will talk (5f1).

Another parent described the change in expectations in the following way:

... the expectations have completely changed too. ... My expectation now is a very base level of communication for [my son]. ... Your whole belief system and expectations change. The number one thing now is can you function and are you happy instead of whether you have a Ph.D. in nuclear physics or something (3m1).

In terms of reframing their expectations, parents also found it necessary to adjust their view of family. Not only did parents have preconceived notions regarding what their children's individual development would be like, they also had assumptions about the way that their family would be defined. Living with autism forced parents to make changes to the way that their family functioned. A

mother described how her family had accepted that they would be different and that there were limitations that they had to adjust to with respect to her son:

We find [our son is] coping a lot better, so probably there's two things happening. One is that we ... understand him so much better and we don't put him in highly stressful situations where he can bomb. ... Second, ... he's developing the skills to cope better in situations. We also came to a point where we realized that our family would be different (1f1).

A father discussed how his family life had changed as a result of having a child with autism:

It affects absolutely every aspect of your life. You can't go to dinner with your family, you can't go on a holiday, like the thought of going to Disneyland - no way. We could take two of our kids but not the whole family. And so your whole concept of the family unit changes (3m1).

Participants indicated not wanting their family to change, but appeared to recognize the need to do so in order to be able to manage autism adequately. A mother spoke of her experience in this regard:

This isn't what every family would do and this isn't what we envisioned our family doing. But this may be what our family has to do (1f1).

Lastly, parents identified changes to the expectations that they had regarding their personal goals. Many participants identified having career aspirations and other personal goals or ideals that they felt were necessary to rearrange as a result of the needs of their child:

... I planned before to become a teacher and I had to make a decision about my career because I graduated just a few months before I got the diagnosis. And I had to think seriously about ... my needs as a woman, as

a mom. And I decided to use the knowledge and talent that I had to help this child ... (6f2).

Other parents were able to relate to having to make changes to their expectations regarding their careers. A mother stated of her experience:

So the long term projection is that I don't know when I will be able to take a full time job which gives my husband all the stress of having to take care of the family (7f1).

Another parent spoke of having to redefine her expectations of herself as she had previously valued the importance of having control:

... I'm the kind of person that likes to ... oversee things and I think that having [our daughter] kind of made me more so. Especially where my kids are concerned. I like to know where they are and what they are doing and what is going on with them ... And I find that's been, I've had to relinquish part of that. That I don't always know what she's doing and I have to entrust in other people to keep her safe (5f1).

Stage VI: Going beyond Autism

The sixth stage identified by participants as part of the experience of raising a child with autism was making a decision to change the focus and not be solely defined by autism. Up until this point in the process, a large part of participants' focus had been on autism. Parents indicated that by this stage they had much of the knowledge, experience, and information that they needed to manage autism more adequately and nurture other areas of their lives. The choice to go beyond autism involved reconnecting with aspects of life with which they had previously lost touch as a result of the demands of parenting a child with

autism. Going beyond autism also included a decision by parents to think about the future of their child and their family. By this stage, some parents indicated making plans for the future so that they had some peace of mind regarding what would happen to their child once they were no longer able to continue with their caregiving.

By this stage participants indicated feeling a need to go beyond autism.

While much of their energies up until this point were focused on autism or on the understanding of the behaviours of their children, by this time they articulated wanting to make a change:

But part of it was we said we are sick of grieving, we're sick of wallowing in our pity and our depression and everything else. Life is going to go on, we still have [our son] and we're not doing him any favours and we're not doing ourselves any favours by making our whole life stop because of autism. We've gone beyond autism so that was when we ... decided to have [our other son] ... (1m1).

Another participant stated:

... after about a year we got sort of tired of feeling crappy and said, "Let's get on with it." But it took a long time to do that (3m1).

There were two main reasons that parents chose to go beyond autism. The first was that participants needed to focus less of their energies on the management of autism than they had previously. Parents indicated having a better understanding of the disability by this time. A mother spoke of her experience in this respect:

I go through periods of time, long stretches of time where I think oh yeah, ... things are rough and things are challenging with [my daughter], but I think that I'm more comfortable in the situation now and I've figured out enough things about it and I've figured out enough things about her where I don't feel like I need necessarily a huge support network anymore with her (5f2).

Another mother stated of the information that assisted her in moving on:

... probably the best thing to say about overcoming the grieving and just the ... inability to cope day to day ... I have to give to the amount that I read. Because I probably read about twelve books in six months, on autism. I've read just about everything on all the top ten lists and you know, it really helped just to get an idea, especially when the book spanned over childhood and into adolescence (7f1).

A second reason that parents chose to go beyond autism was for the sake of their other children, family members, and themselves. A large reason for the change in focus had to do with missed opportunities that they felt that other family members were experiencing. As well, parents reported feeling that it was unhealthy to focus on the needs of one member of the family to the neglect of others. A mother spoke regarding the impact that she felt her daughter's disability had on other children in the family:

... my other daughter was in the theater, was fascinated with the theater and always wanted to be an actress or go to the theater. And... she would say, "Oh, mommy, can we go to see this play or can we go to see this show?" And ... before I'd finish she'd say, "No, can't leave [my sister]." And [my other son], my youngest son, was very protective of [my daughter with autism]. ... And then one day there was a bit of an explosion. He was teasing my older daughter, you know. And I said, "Don't do that..." And he said, "Well, I don't count." He was twelve. He said, "[My sister] comes in, she bursts through the door and she's a great actress. [My other sister] ... demands all your time and I don't count." And we had to have a

talk. ... And I realized that ... [I] was affecting the other children. I was damaging them in a personal way, in an emotional way. (8f1)

Another mother spoke of the need to regain a sense of balance in her life:

I guess [my child having autism] has sort of forced my determination as far as the idea that we are not all going to be defined by autism and, that's not the only things we're going to talk about and that's not the only thing the kids are going to hear about. So we have balance. ... [We] still have the energy for all of our kids so that we don't feel that ... any one person in our family is getting a disproportionate share of others time and energy and stuff like that (1f1).

The extent to which families moved beyond autism varied among families as did the changes that needed to take place in order to be able to do so. For some families, the ability to move beyond autism and provide opportunities for themselves and other children included having the child with autism out of the home for periods of time. One family chose to access a shared-care situation which included their daughter being out of the home one to two weeks per month:

... [our daughter] has gone to a host family now for the last couple of years and we do a shared-care situation where she lives out of the house half of the time. ... For survival I really got to the point where I felt like I was going to crack and I couldn't keep up with it anymore (5f1).

The same mother described further the reasons for accessing additional respite:

... I think that if [our daughter] was living at home full time it would be very difficult to have a normal situation for our younger child. I think I've always wanted her to have a balance in her life where she's accepting of her sister and knows that [she] has a place in our family where she is your sister and she is my daughter and that doesn't change. Yet I also realize that she's five and she needs to do five-year-old things. ... And I don't want her to be resentful of her sister and I don't want her to have a life that is full of limitations because of it (5f2).

Decisions to go beyond autism tended to be fueled by both an immediate need to have some balance in the lives of participants as well as a need to begin thinking about the future of their family and their child with autism. A father discussed his worries in relation to the future:

[My worries are] that a time will come in [our son's] life where we can't take care of him because we're too old or we're dead or whatever, and... the people who will be around him will not take care of him. I mean, it's as simple as that (2m1)

The focus on the future caused parents to go beyond autism by making plans for their child with autism. For example, a participant and her family chose to place their child with autism in a residential setting. A mother described her experience in this regard:

... I was being drained. ... We went to see a doctor ... and they had a special unit there for autistic children. Lovely little place. ... This was when our daughter was sixteen. They had this [place] and it was special for, they had a school and they had bedrooms, clothes drying on the line, a dog there, a rabbit. And we took her there to try her out. Anyway, after a month we went to see her. She seemed quite settled (8f2).

The same mother described her rationale for placing her daughter in residential care. While it was of benefit to her family in the present, it was also something that her family considered in order to have plans in place for her daughter's future. Of having her other children care for their sibling with autism she stated:

You can't do that to your other children. That wouldn't be fair to them. ... Like I've said to my other children, "You can't have her cause you don't have room." And [our daughter] couldn't have her, she couldn't

drag her around to all these [places] and she couldn't work. And [our son] couldn't. ... "But you must remember her birthday, her Christmas, check on her regularly." ... Which is what you would do with your sister who is normal. You wouldn't have her come and live with you. You have to think of normalcy. She's a forty year old woman, you don't live with your sister or your brother. In most cases, you don't. She's going to go somewhere. At this point we can change it and we can choose. It's a lovely place she's in, beautiful (8f1).

As a result of having begun to go beyond autism, participants reported feeling benefits in their lives. Due to an increase in time, energy, and knowledge, participants reported being able to now make choices that contributed to the preservation of all family members. A mother discussed how going beyond autism impacted her family:

It's been a compromise that we've reached because ... when we make decisions in our family, I think we try to, instead of thinking ... necessarily of the child or the best interests of this member or that member. I think we try to keep everybody in the balance. ... I want to balance it somehow where all of us can come out at the end where there's some preservation here. Because I think to pour it all out into one child is not good, it's not good. Nothing good can come of it (5f2).

While family members, including spouses and other children, benefited from the decision to go beyond autism, parents also made the decision for their own well-being. A mother discussed her reasons for thinking of herself in the process:

... I also realized that it's a marathon, it's not a sprint, and I don't want to be an embittered, crusty old lady when I'm sixty, thinking about how I gave up my life so my child could have a life.

Another mother described the importance of maintaining a life outside of her son's disability:

... we both still try and have some friendships outside of the whole "a" thing, you know. ... It's a grip on the rest of the world because it's pretty easy to hibernate in your house (7f1).

The same mother described how this decision impacted her life:

And at first I couldn't believe, I could go out for coffee. We could go out as a family and have a meal. ... I went home to see my parents who were quite aged at the time. Our life opened up (8f1).

The six stages of parenting a child with autism experienced by participants represent a process that takes place over time. Autism posed unique challenges in terms of its onset and developmental course that may not have been part of the experiences of parents of children with other disabilities.

V. DISCUSSION

These data illustrated a process in parenting a child with autism. The basic social process was a reframing of the vision of the child and the family.

Because parents had certain expectations regarding what both their child's development and their family life should look like, parenting a child with autism involved bridging the gap between these visions and the reality of their situation.

The first aspect of reframing that took place for parents focused on the vision of the child. Parents had expectations of what their child's development would look like. As a result of the gap in their expectations and the reality of their child with autism, they chose to reframe their expectations to fit with the limitations and demands of their child.

A second component of reframing was related to the vision of family that participants had. Parents had a vision of what their family life would look like. The definition of family was challenged as a result of having a child with autism and learning the limitations that he/she posed on the family. Instead of completely changing their vision, parents chose to do certain things so that their family would correspond better with the original vision of what it should look like.

Within the main process of reframing the vision of the child and family, a sequence of stages emerged. Throughout these stages there were varying ways in which reframing happened. As well, there were certain similarities observed within existing theoretical literature as well as some differences as a result of specific challenges associated with parenting a child with autism.

Reframing the Vision of the Child

The beginning of parenting a child with autism was a time during which parents expected their children to be developing normally. They began to check their vision of what child development should look like by checking their expectations through a process of comparison. Since participants in this stage felt that their children were developing according to their vision, they had not yet begun the process of reframing.

The experiences of parents during this early stage in the process differs from what has been found in previous research (Bristor, 1984; Milgram & Atzil, 1988). This study provides support for the hypothesis that parents of children with autism have differing experiences than parents of children with other disabilities. Although there has not been a great deal of focus on the earlier stages of the process, what has been done tends to group multiple diagnoses in their samples (Frey et al., 1989) or focus on disabilities or handicaps which are present from birth (Bristor, 1984). For example, Bristor (1984) found the birth of

a handicapped child to precipitate a major family crisis. This is not the case when parenting a child with autism. Since autism is not apparent early on, parents assume that they have a normal, healthy child. The detection of the disability early on is difficult (Siegel et al., 1988; Zoltak, 1986).

The next stage in the experiences of parents was one during which parents began to notice aspects of their children's development that were different and oftentimes, difficult to explain. This stage marked the beginning of participants' concern and worry regarding their children. As such, parents recognized for the first time the gap in their vision of their child and what they were experiencing.

The limited research that is available regarding autism in the early stages concurs with this experiences of parents in this study (Marcus, Kunce, & Schopler, 1997; Midence & O'Neill, 1999). For example, Midence and O'Neill (1999), conducted a grounded theory pilot study to better understand the experiences of parents of children with autism over time. They identified the early stage of raising a child with autism as one during which parents looked at their children's behaviour development and noticed aspects that were different and difficult to describe. As well, research by Marcus et al. (1997) noted that parents are able to suspect fairly early on that their child may have a significant developmental problem.

Once parents moved beyond noticing that something was different with their children's development, they began to seek out informal and then formal supports to assist in needing to know what was happening. By obtaining information regarding their children's difficulties and what they were dealing with, participants were able to begin to identify more clearly the gap between their vision and the reality of their children's development.

Although previous research does not identify the process of parenting a child with autism as one of reframing, there are certain similarities found in the reasons and the ways in which parents chose to obtain information regarding what they observed in their child.

Much of what parents noticed that caused them to seek supports included their children not fitting with their vision by not meeting appropriate developmental milestones as well as exhibiting odd, difficult-to-explain behaviours. Gray (1994) found similarities in the way that the process unfolded for parents of children with autism. For example, participants in his study identified the absence of language skills to be most stressful and the aspect of their child's development that caused them to seek medical attention. As well, Siegel et al. (1988), in their study of parents of children with autism, found similar results. They stated that of their sample, "98% cited concerns with

language development, 84% cited concerns with social development, and 34% cited concerns with motor milestones" (p. 201).

The ways that parents accessed information in order to identify the reasons for the gap in their vision versus reality had similarities to Siegel et al.'s (1988) research. In this study parents used informal means of support before going to formal supports within the health care field. Siegel et al. (1988) also found the health care system to be of importance. Among their sample, "92% reported that their concerns had been discussed ... with their child's primary care physician (84% with pediatricians, 8% with general family practitioners). The remaining 8% of parents self-referred directly to other professionals" (p. 201).

Parents eventually received a diagnosis of autism. All identified this experience as one that was very difficult due to the vision that they had for their child being ripped away. As a result of having had the vision taken away from them due to the diagnosis, parents at this stage were not yet able to begin to reframe their visions of their children. They were able to identify that the vision that they had for their child was now gone. However, they were not yet ready to incorporate the diagnosis into a new vision.

Other researchers have identified this stage in the experience of parents of children with disabilities or chronic illness as a process called chronic sorrow.

Olshansky (1962) was the first to introduce this concept. The literature with

respect to chronic sorrow identifies that parents must make continual adju_stments over time and that they experience sadness as a result of their child not fitting with their expectations. Ellis (1989) attempted to explain further the process of chronic sorrow by identifying the child with a disability as a distortion of the planned-for infant. His explanation fits well with the findings of this research.

Once parents learned that their child had autism and were able to mobilize themselves, they recognized that they must begin to understand this disability by obtaining further supports. The knowledge acquired by parents through obtaining supports assisted them in being able to close the gap between their vision cof their child and the reality with which they were now faced. For the first time, prarents were able to understand what they were dealing with. During this stage, prarents reframed the vision of their child to fit with the reality of the limitations that autism placed on the child.

There have been similarities found in the ways that others have loo•ked at this stage. For example, most theories related to managing disabilities have recognized the need to obtain post-diagnosis support to assist in this process.

Chronic sorrow theories have identified the importance of social support (Davis, 1987). Other theorists using family adaptation and life management frameworks have also identified social support as integral in managing (Bristol, 1987; McCubbin, 1988; Scorgie et al., 1996).

Other similarities have been found with respect to the ways that parents are able to view their children following the diagnosis. For example, Midence and O'Neill (1999) identified parents as being better able to perceive and value their child's personality at this time.

Reframing the Vision of the Family

Reframing the vision of family does not take nearly as much time as reframing the vision of the child. As well, the focus on family reframing takes place later in the process. Until parents reframed their vision of the child and have a fuller understanding of autism, they were not yet able to focus on the family unit. This is because autism was the main focus of parents for much of the time in previous stages.

Because autism was at the forefront of the family for so long, participants identified having lost their vision of family life. As a result, after having much of the necessary understanding of autism, parents were able to begin to find that vision again.

The process of finding the vision of family involved parents making changes to their lives and making decisions that allowed their definition of family to fit with their earlier vision. Not much literature to date has focused on the ways that families define themselves in light of having a child with a disability.

In this study, the accessing of supports by parents assisted in their ability to allow their family definition to fit with their vision. For example, making use of respite services allowed parents to be able to participate in normal family activities. Gray (1994) stated that many participants "regularly used respite care services, which allowed them to lead a relatively normal life" (p. 293). Midence and O'Neill (1999) provided support for Gray's (1994) findings. In addition, Midence and O'Neill (1999) identified parents moving towards a normal vision of family by making plans for their child to be able to live an independent life at some point in the future.

The process of raising a child with autism involved a continual process of evaluating the expectations that parents had regarding their child and their family. Throughout the experience, participants attempted to make sense of their reality and become more comfortable in their situation by reframing their vision of the child and the family. This finding is different from those of other researchers and adds to our understanding of the experiences of parents when raising a child with autism.

Limitations of the Study

Limitations of the study related to the sample included the inability to conduct second interviews with two participants as a result of the participants having moved during the course of the study. It is possible that these participants

may have provided additional information to support the findings of the research and thus, increase the generalizability of the findings. It is also possible that second interviews with these participants could have provided new information with respect to the experiences of parents.

A second limitation related to the sample was that a specific group of caregivers were interviewed. Many parents in this study were members of a support group for parents of children with autism. Individuals receiving support may be better adjusted than those dealing with autism without supports.

Interviewing those not receiving support may have provided different information regarding the experiences of parents and the ways in which they manage.

The issue of data saturation also may have been a limitation in this study. Many participants were at or near the beginning of the process of raising a child with autism. As a result, there is limited information regarding the later stages of the process. The findings of Stage VI were compromised as a result of having interviewed only one participant who had experienced her child with autism having left home. Although the interviews with this participant were extensive, interviews with additional participants in the later stages would have improved the data saturation process.

Another limitation of the research was that all data were retrospective.

Parents were asked to recall details of their experiences, sometimes over the span

of several years. There may have been some difficulty in accurately recalling their experiences due to the passage of time.

Lastly, not as many males participated in the study as was initially anticipated. It was common for women to participate in the study as they are more commonly the parent responsible for the majority of childcare. However, in this study there were not observed differences in relation to gender. Males and females appeared to have similar experiences and tended to face the same types of challenges. Being able to interview more males would have assisted in the confirmation of this finding.

Conclusion

This study used a grounded theory approach to understanding the experiences of mothers and fathers over time in parenting a child with autism. Although additional research is needed, there were specific findings related to the experience of parenting a child with autism. The basic social process identified was a reframing of the vision of the child and the family. It appears that the unique characteristics of this disability may play a role in its detection and management.

Much of the previous research related to the understanding of autism and other disabilities has tended to focus on the parental experience of stress (Bristol & Schopler, 1983; DeMyer & Goldberg, 1983; Milgram & Atzil, 1988; Moes et

al., 1992; Wolf et al., 1989). While parents in this study identified parenting a child with autism as being stressful at various points, there appeared to be other aspects to their experience in addition to stress. For example, the experience of reframing is central to parents' experiences and may be one way that they chose to manage stress. Examining parental experiences from this perspective allows a more positive understanding of how parents manage. Others have begun to view the experience of managing disabilities with this lens (Scorgie et al., 1996).

Further research in the area of autism would assist in developing a clearer understanding regarding how this disability is experienced by parents. For example, the possibility exists that the process of reframing is one way that parents manage the enormous amount of stress that they experience as a result of their circumstances. Future research exploring the relationship between reframing and stress would be helpful in better understanding the process that parents experience.

Another focus of further research could be the impact that autism has on the relationship between parents. This study did not provide details regarding the ways that this experience is negotiated between couples as well as the ways that it impacts on couples' relationships. Future research may want to focus on this area, especially given that much of what takes place for participants in terms of reframing the vision of the family tends to focus on the impact on other children

in the family. Future research exploring other aspects of the family unit, including the impact on both couples and siblings, would be useful in better understanding the full impact of autism on the family.

REFERENCES

Adams, B., Wilgosh, L., & Sobsey, D. (1990). Sorrow or commitment: The experience of being the parent of a child with severe disabilities.

Developmental Disabilities Bulletin, 18(1), 49-58.

American Psychiatric Association (1994). <u>Diagnostic and statistical</u> manual of mental disorders (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.

Anderson, S.R., Avery, D.L., DiPietro, E.K., Edwards, G.L., & Christian, W.P. (1987). Intensive home-based early intervention with autistic children. <u>Education and Treatment of Children, 10(4)</u>, 352-366.

Baruch, G.K., & Barnett, R.C. (1986). Consequences of fathers' participation in family work: Parents' role strain and well-being. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 51(5), 983-992.

Beck, A.T., Ward, C.H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., & Erbaugh, J. (1961).

An inventory for measuring depression. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 4, 561-571.

Belsky, J. (1984). The determinants of parenting: A process model. <u>Child</u> <u>Development,55</u>, 83-96.

Benson, B.A., & Gross, A.M. (1989). The effect of a congenitally handicapped child upon the marital dyad: A review of the literature. Clinical Psychology Review, 9, 747-758.

Bohannon, J.R. (1990). Grief responses of spouses following the death of a child: A longitudinal study. Omega,22(2), 109-121.

Brabant, S. (1990). Old pain or new pain: A social psychological approach to recurrent grief. Omega, 20(4), 273-279.

Bristol, M.M. (1984). Family resources and successful adaptation to autistic children. In E. Schopler & G.B. Mesibov (Eds.), The effects of autism on the family (pp. 287-310). New York: Plenum Press.

Bristol, M.M. (1987). Mothers of children with autism or communication disorders: Successful adaptation and the double ABCX model. <u>Journal of Autism</u> and Developmental Disorders, 17(4), 469-486.

Bristol, M.M., Gallagher, J.J., & Schopler, E. (1988). Mothers and fathers of young developmentally disabled boys: Adaptation and spousal support.

Developmental Psychology, 24(3), 441-451.

Bristol, M.M., & Schopler, E. (1983). Coping and stress in families of autistic adolescents. In E. Schopler & G.B. Mesibov (Eds.), <u>Autism in adolescents and adults</u> (pp. 251-278). New York: Plenum Press.

Bristor, M.W. (1984). The birth of a handicapped child: A wholistic model for grieving. <u>Family Relations</u>, 33, 25-32.

Byrne, E.A., & Cunningham, C.C. (1985). The effects of mentally handicapped children on families: A conceptual review. <u>Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry</u>, 26(6), 847-864.

Campbell, M., Schopler, E., Cuevea, J.E., & Hallin, A. (1996). Treatment of autistic disorder. <u>Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 35(2)</u>, 134-143.

Chenitz, W.C., & Swanson, J.M. (1986). Qualitative research using grounded theory. In W.C. Chenitz & J.M. Swanson (Eds.), <u>From practice to grounded theory</u> (pp. 3-15). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

Cook, S.S. (1988). The impact of the disabled child on the family. <u>Loss</u>, <u>Grief</u>, and Care, 2(3-4), 45-52.

Cook, T.D., & Campbell, D.T. (1979). Quasi-experimentation: Design and analysis issues for field settings. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.

Corbin, J. (1986). Qualitative data analysis for grounded theory. In W.C. Chenitz & J.M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory (pp. 91-101). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

Coughlin, M. (1989). Disappointment and its application to the grief process for parents whose child has a severe anomaly or dies. <u>Issues in</u>

Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing, 12, 281-283.

Damrosch, S.P., & Perry, L.A. (1989). Self-reported adjustment, chronic sorrow, and coping of parents of children with down syndrome. <u>Nursing</u>

Research, 38(1), 25-30.

Davis, B.H. (1987). Disability and grief. <u>Social Casework: The Journal of Contemporary Social Work,68</u>, 352-357.

DeMyer, M.K. (1979). <u>Parents and children in autism</u>. Washington: Winston.

DeMyer, M.K., & Goldberg, P. (1983). Family needs of the autistic adolescent. In E. Schopler & G.B. Mesibov (Eds.), <u>Autism in adolescents and adults</u> (pp. 225-250). New York: Plenum Press.

Donovan, A. (1988). Family stress and ways of coping with adolescents who have handicaps: Maternal perceptions. <u>American Journal on Mental</u>
Retardation, 92, 502-509.

Eakes, G. (1995). Chronic sorrow: The lived experience of parents of chronically mentally ill individuals. <u>Archives of Psychiatry Nursing,9(2)</u>, 77-84.

Ellis, J.B. (1989). Grieving the loss of the perfect child: Parents of children with handicaps. Child and Adolescent Social Work, 6, 210-259.

Fagerhaugh, S.Y. (1986). Analyzing data for basic social processes. In W.C. Chenitz & J.M. Swanson (Eds.), <u>From practice to grounded theory</u> (pp. 91-101). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

Field, P.A., & Morse, J.M. (1985). <u>Nursing research. The application of qualitative approaches</u>. Rockville, MD: Aspen Publication.

Floyd, F.J., & Gallagher, E.M. (1997). Parental stress, care demands, and use of support services for school-age children with disabilities and behavior problems. Family Relations, 46, 359-371.

Frey, K.S., Greenberg, M.T., & Fewell, R.R. (1989). Stress and coping among parents of handicapped children: A multidimensional approach. <u>American Journal on Mental Retardation</u>, 94(3), 240-249.

Gable, S., Belsky, J., & Crnic, K. (1992). Marriage, parenting, and child development: Progress and prospects. <u>Journal of Family Psychology</u>, 5(3), 276-294.

Gall, M.D., Borg, W.R., & Gall, J.P. (1996). <u>Educational research: An introduction</u>. (6th ed.). Longman Publishers.

Gillberg, C. (1991). Outcome in autism and autistic-like conditions.

Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 30(3), 375-382.

Gillberg, C., & Steffenburg, S. (1987). Outcome and prognostic factors in infantile autism and similar conditions: A population-based study of 46 cases followed through puberty. <u>Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 17</u>, 273-287.

Glaser, B.G. (1978). <u>Theoretical sensitivity</u>. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press.

Glaser, B.G., & Strauss, A.L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory.

Strategies for qualitative data research. Chicago, IL: Aldine Publishing Company.

Goldberg, W.A., & Easterbrooks, M.A. (1984). Role of marital quality in toddler development. <u>Developmental Psychology</u>, 20, 504-514.

Gray, D.E. (1994). Negotiating autism: Relations between parents and treatment staff. <u>Social Science Medicine</u>, 36(8), 1037-1046.

Hafner, A.M., Butcher, I.N., Hall, M.D., & Quast, W. (1969). Parent personality and childhood disorders. In J.N. Butcher (Ed.), MMPI: Research developments and clinical applications. New York: McGraw Hill.

Holmes, N., & Carr, J. (1991). The pattern of care in families of adults with a mental handicap: A comparison between families of autistic adults and down syndrome adults. <u>Journal of Autism and Developmental Disabilities,21(2)</u>, 159-176.

Holroyd, J., & McArthur, D. (1976). Mental retardation and stress on the parents: A contrast between Down's syndrome and childhood autism. <u>American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 80</u>, 431-436.

Jenkins, J.M., & Smith, M.A. (1991). Marital disharmony and children's behavior problems: Aspects of a poor marriage that affect children adversely.

<u>Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 32, 793-810.</u>

Kerlinger, F.N. (1973). <u>Foundations of behavioral research</u> (2nd ed.). NewYork: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, Inc.

Koegel, R.L., Schreibman, L., O'Neill, R.E., & Burke, J.C. (1983). The personality and family-interaction characteristics of parents of autistic children.

Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 51, 683-692.

Kysela, G.M., McDonald, L., Reddon, J., & Gobeil-Dwyer, F. (in press).

Stress and social supports to families with a handicapped child. In K. Marfo

(Ed.), Parent-child interaction and developmental disabilities. New York:

Praeger.

Lamb, M.E., Pleck, J.H., & Levine, J.A. (1986). Effects of paternal involvement on fathers and mothers. <u>Marriage and Family Review, 9</u>(3-4), 67-83.

Loyd, B.H., & Abidin, R.A. (1985). Revision of the Parenting Stress Index. <u>Journal of Pediatric Psychology</u>, 10(2) 169-177.

Marcenko, M.O., & Meyers, J.C. (1991). Mothers of children with developmental disabilities: Who shares the burden? <u>Family Relations,40</u>, 186-190.

Marcus, L.M. (1984). Coping with burnout. In E. Schopler & G.B.

Mesibov (Eds.), The effects of autism on the family (pp. 312-326). New York:

Plenum Press.

Marcus, L.M., Kunce, L.J., & Schopler, E. (1997). Working with families. In D.J. Cohen & F.R. Volkmar (Eds.), <u>Handbook of autism and pervasive</u> developmental disorders. New York: Wiley.

McCubbin, M. (1988). Family stress, resources, and family types: Chronic illness in children. Family Relations, 37, 203-210.

Mengel, M.H., Marcus, D.B., & Dunkle, R.E. (1996). What will happen to my child when I'm gone? A support and education group for aging parents as caregivers. The Gerontologist, 36(6), 816-820.

Midence, K., & O'Neill, M. (1999). The experience of parents in the diagnosis of autism. <u>Autism,3(3)</u>, 273-285.

Milgram, N.A., & Atzil, M. (1988). Parenting stress in raising autistic children. <u>Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 18</u>(3), 415-424.

Moes, D. (1995). Parenting education and parenting stress. In R.L. Koegel & L.K. Koegel (Eds.), <u>Teaching children with autism: Strategies for</u>

initiating positive interactions and improving learning opportunities (pp. 79-93).

Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Moes, D., Koegel, R.L., Schreibman, L., & Loos, L.M. (1992). Stress profiles for mothers and fathers of children with autism. <u>Psychological</u>

<u>Reports,71</u>, 1272-1274.

Moos, R.H., Insel, P.M., & Humphrey, B. (1974). <u>Combined preliminary</u> manual for the family, work, and group environment scales. Palo Alto:

Consulting Psychologists Press.

Morgan, S.B. (1988). The autistic child and family functioning: A developmental-family systems perspective. <u>Journal of Autism and</u>

Developmental Disorders, 18(2), 263-280.

Morse, J.M., & Field, P.A. (1995). Qualitative research methods for health professionals (2nd Ed). Sage Publications, Inc.

Munhall, P.L. (1989). Qualitative designs. In P.J. Brink & M.J. Wood (Eds.), Advanced design in nursing research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Norton, P., & Drew, C. (1994). Autism and potential family stressors. The American Journal of Family Therapy, 22(1), 67-76.

Olshansky, S. (1962). Chronic sorrow: A response to having a mentally defective child. <u>Social Casework,43</u>, 191-93.

Ritvo, E.R., & Freeman, B.J. (1978). National society for autistic children definition of the syndrome of autism. <u>Journal of Autism and Childhood</u>

<u>Schizophrenia</u>, 8, 162-169.

Schilling, R.F., Gilchrist, L.D., & Schinke, S.V. (1984). Coping and social support in families of developmentally disabled children. <u>Family</u>
Relations, 33, 47-54.

Schreibman, L. (1988). Diagnostic features of autism. <u>Journal of Child Neurology</u>, 3, 57-64.

Schreibman, L., Koegel, L.K., & Koegel, R.L. (1989). Autism. In M. Herson (Ed.), <u>Innovations in child behavior therapy</u>. <u>Springer series on behavior therapy and behavioral medicine</u> (pp. 395-428). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Co, Inc.

Scorgie, K., Wilgosh, L., & McDonald, L. (1996). A qualitative study of managing life when a child has a disability. <u>Developmental Disabilities</u>

<u>Bulletin,24(2), 69-89.</u>

Scorgie, K., Wilgosh, L., & McDonald, L. (1997). A survey follow-up on managing life when a child has a disability. <u>Developmental Disabilities</u>

<u>Bulletin,25(2), 65-69.</u>

Siegel, B., Pliner, C., Eschler, J., Elliot, G.R. (1988). How children with autism are diagnosed: Difficulties in identification of children with multiple developmental delays. <u>Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics</u>, 9(4), 199-204.

Spanier, G.B. (1976). Measuring dyadic adjustment: New scales for assessing the quality of marriage and similar dyads. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family, 38</u>, 15-30.

Stern, P.N. (1985). Using grounded theory method in nursing research (pp. 149-150). In M.M. Leninger (Ed.), Qualitative research methods in nursing. Orlando, FL: Grune & Stratton, Inc.

Szatmari, P., Bartolucci, G., Brenner, R., Bond, S., & Rich, S. (1989). A follow-up study of high-functioning autistic children. <u>Journal of Autism and</u>
Developmental Disorders, 19, 213-225.

Wikler, L., Wasow, M., & Hatfield, E. (1981). Chronic sorrow revisited:

Parent vs. Professional depiction of the adjustment of parents of mentally retarded children. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 51, 63-70.4

Willoughby, J.C., & Glidden, L. (1995). Fathers helping out: Shared child care and marital satisfaction of parents of children with disabilities. <u>American</u>

<u>Journal on Mental Retardation, 99(4), 399-406.</u>

Wolf, L.C., Noh, S., Fisman, S.N., & Speechley, M. (1989). Brief report:

Psychological effects of parenting stress on parents of autistic children. <u>Journal</u>

of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 19(1), 157-166.

Zoltak, B.B. (1986). Autism: Recognition and management. <u>Pediatric</u>

<u>Nursing, 12(2)</u>, 90-94.

APPENDIX A

Call for Participants

Hello, my name is Susan Foley and I am a Masters student at the University of Alberta. I am conducting a study that focuses on the experiences that parents have when raising a child with autism. It is hoped that the results of this study will provide us with information about what it is like for parents who have a child with autism.

Both mothers and fathers who are raising a child with autism and are willing to talk about their experiences are asked to participate. An average of two interviews will be required, probably lasting for one hour each. The interviews will be tape recorded and later typed. Questions will be asked about parents' experiences in raising a child with autism. All interviews will be kept confidential and identifying information will not be used in the study.

Interviews will take place at a location that is convenient for you. I would be happy to come to your home to conduct the interviews. Once the study is complete, you will be given a final report that summarizes the findings of the research.

If you think you might be interested in participating or learning more about this study, please contact Susan Foley at 435-3595. She will tell you more about the study. If you should decide to participate, she will want to arrange a time for your first interview.

Thank you for your consideration.

APPENDIX B

CONSENT FORM

Parental Experiences in Dealing with Autism

INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE: You are invited to participate in this research because you are the parent of a child who has autism.

PURPOSE OF STUDY: The purpose of this study is to explore and understand the experiences of parents of children with autism over time.

EXPLANATION OF PROCEDURES: You will be asked to participate in two to three interviews that will be approximately one hour in length. During the interviews you will be asked questions about aspects of your experience in raising a child with autism.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS: Benefits to you include knowledge of the general results of the study and knowledge of the research process that you may acquire. Your participation in the study may help practitioners to determine better ways to assist families that are dealing with the challenge of raising a child with autism.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF DATA: Interviews will be tape recorded and transcribed. Names will be changed on transcripts to ensure confidentiality. Following transcription all audio tapes will be erased. All data will be stored in a secure place.

WITHDRAWAL FROM THE STUDY: Participation is voluntary. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw your consent and discontinue participation at any time.

OFFER TO ANSWER QUESTIONS: If you have any questions, please feel free to ask. If you have any questions in the future you may call the investigator below. Thank you for your time and interest.

If you have any additional questions concerning the rights of research participants you may contact the University of Alberta Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research (492-3499).

PARTICIPANT SIGNATURE:	

DATE:	
WITNESS SIGNATURE: DATE:	
INVESTIGATOR SIGNATURE DATE:):
DATE:	

INVESTIGATORS:

Dr. Norah Keating, (780) 492-4191 Susan Foley, (780) 444-2135 Department of Human Ecology

APPENDIX C

DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS

Following are some general questions which will be used for research purposes.

Your answers will be kept confidential. Please feel free to omit any questions that you do not wish to answer. 1. How old are you? _____ years 2. How long have you been married? years 3. What is the highest level of education you have completed? (Please check one) Less than high school High school Post secondary diploma ____ Bachelor's degree Master's degree Doctoral degree 5. How many children do you have? What is the age of your child with autism? What is the gender of your child with autism? What age was your child when he/she received a diagnosis of autism?

____ years

	Has your child with autism developed language? (Please check one)
_	yesno
	On a scale of 1 to 5 how would you rate the level of severity of your child
wi	autism?
	1 2 3 4 5
	not moderately unsure/ quite extremely severe severe no opinion severe severe
	u have other children, what are their?
	How many of your children are still living at home?
6.	Are you employed outside the home? YES NO If YES, are you
	mployed
	PART-TIME? FULL-TIME?
7.	las your employment status changed as a result of your child's diagnosis with
	utism?
	YES NO If YES, how?
_	
Wł	t is your family's average yearly income? (Please check one)
	_ below \$20,000 per year

 \$20,000 to \$40,000 per year
 \$40,000 to \$60,000 per year
 \$60,000 to \$80,000 per year
 \$80,000 to \$100,000 per year
 above \$100,000 per year

APPENDIX D

Interview Guide for Second Interviews

Stage I: Expecting Normal

Were there any things about your first pregnancy that were different from your first?

You stated that the first year of your son/daughter's life was absolutely normal. What does that mean to you?

In our first interview you stated that you knew that your son's behaviour was unusual very early on. What made you feel that way?

What did you expect as a parent for your child when you gave birth?

I have talked with parents that stated that in the beginning they began comparing their child with the expectations that they had regarding what their child's development would look like. Can you tell me a bit about what you expected as a parent?

In our first interview you talked about feeling relieved when your daughter was healthy looking at birth. What caused you to be relieved?

Can you tell me a bit more about what caused you to believe that your daughter was autistic from birth? Do you think that this is knowledge that you now have looking at your experience in retrospect? Was there ever a period of time during which you thought she was developing normally?

Stage II: Worrying About Differences

Did you and your spouse both agree that there was something wrong at the same time? If not, how did your experiences differ?

In our first interview you spoke of one friend that you had that had tuned into something being wrong. Could you tell me more about that?

Parents have talked about a time during which they started noticing odd behaviours. How worried were you when you started noticing these behaviours in your child?

What caused you to become more seriously worried? At what point did you start talking about your worries?

You mentioned in our first interview that your daughter was exhibiting some odd behaviours, including echolalia. How worried were you at that point? What caused you to become more seriously worried? At what point did you start talking about your worries?

You mentioned that when your daughter was a baby that people made comments to you about your parenting that caused you to doubt yourself. Can you tell me a bit more about that and what that was like for you?

Tell me about how you felt when others were not validating what you felt was wrong with your son/daughter.

Stage III: Needing to Know

You asked your husband to accompany you to the first appointment with the pediatrician. What caused you to believe that this was something serious enough that you needed him there?

Tell me more about the frustration that you said you felt when you took your son to the hospital and nothing happened. What was that like?

In our last interview you didn't mention much about others being involved in the process of your life with a child with autism. Could you tell me a bit more about who was involved, if anyone?

I have talked to parents who stated that they found it difficult to express to doctors what they were noticing in terms of their child's behaviours. Did you feel this? What was that like for you?

Stage IV: Having it Real

Tell me more about the assessment process. Who was involved and what was that like for you? Who was involved? What kinds of expectations did you have regarding the assessment?

You discussed a time following the diagnosis when you found it painful to be around friends. Can you tell me a bit more about that?

When you first received the diagnosis of autism, what did you expect that your life would be like?

You mentioned that shortly after the diagnosis you found it difficult to be in public places where you saw other children. Could you tell me more about that? What about these situations made them difficult?

Parents have also spoken of finding it difficult to be around other adults, including friends and family members, following the diagnosis. Did you have this experience? If so, what was it that made it difficult?

How important was it to you to have a diagnosis?

Many parents have talked about a time following the diagnosis during which they felt isolated and as if nobody understood their situation. You mentioned in our first interview that it was somewhat isolating for you. Can you tell me a bit more about what that was like for you? What made you feel as if others did not understand your situation?

Did it take some time for the reality of the diagnosis of autism to sink in?

Stage V: Taking Action

Tell me about your decision to access supports. What was that like? How did you get to a point where you were able to do that?

Tell me about the frustration that you said you experienced as a result of the changes that you have had to make in your life as a result of your child having autism.

Some parents have talked about getting to a point after the diagnosis where they redefined some of the expectations that they had regarding their child and family. Do you agree that that's something that you did? If so, how did you do that?

Stage VI: Going Beyond Autism

A theme that I have found in the interviews that I have done is that parents have certain expectations about what their lives will be like and they must integrate those expectations with the reality of their life with a child with autism. There seems to be a continuum on which people fall. Some have chosen to make major adjustments to their lives, while others seemed to have been able to maintain some sense of normalcy in their lives. You seemed to have been able to maintain a sense of normalcy in your life. Would you agree with that? If so, can you tell me a bit more about how you think you did that?

Many parents have talked about a time when they made a decision to move beyond autism and get back in touch with some aspects of normalcy. You mentioned doing this also. How did you do that? What were some of the reasons that you did so?

Some parents have talked about having less need for social support as time has passed. What was your experience with the need for social support?

What are some of your worries about your child right now?